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Tialis Essential IT Plc

 

("Tialis" or the "Company")

Audited Results for the Year Ended 31 December 2023 and Notice of AGM

Tial is , the mid-market I T Managed Services  provider, i s  pleased to announce i ts  audited results  for the year ended 31

December 2023.

 

Highl ights  in the year include:

 

·      54% growth in revenue to £22.4 mi l l ion (2022:  £14.5 mi l l ion)

·      The successful  asset purchase & integration of the Al lvotec bus iness

·      Improved payment terms on al l  resource-based contracts

·    Renewals  & extens ions  in the fol lowing sectors : nuclear industry, UK  u2l i2es, government/publ ic sector, global

entertainment company, international  health-care corporation, investment management company

·     New business  awards  in the fol lowing sectors : prin2ng solu2ons market leader, UK  u2l i2es, consumer health-

care corpora2on, government/publ ic sector, interna2onal  vehicle rental , workplace and faci l i ty management,

postal  service and courier company, international  multi -sourcing service integration

·    Award of I S O  14001 together with Award of Gold Ecovadis  status  and developing a  new carbon neutral  l i fecyle

solution

·      Successful  renewals  ISO 9001, ISO 20000-1 & ISO 27001 certi fications

·      Cyber Essentia ls  & Cyber Essentia ls  Plus  re-award

·      Signi ficant D&B score improvement

·      Rebranding of company and new website

·      Part of a  consortium that has  won a s igni ficant preferred suppl ier agreement with the government/publ ic sector

·     New partnership agreements  s igned with s ix new major partners , and two further partners  who have expressed

interest in s igning agreements .

·      Strong start to 2024 with numerous new end-user customer contract awards  expected, including four new

channel  partners , gives  us  a  multi  year current pipel ine (new bus iness  and contract renewals) of over £20.1m,

giving us  strong vis ibi l i ty over future growth

 

The Annual  Report and Accounts  for the year ended 31 December 2023 wi l l  shortly be avai lable on the Company's  website

at www.tia l is .com.

 

Copies  of the Annual  Report and Accounts  wi l l  be posted to shareholders  by 13 May 2024 along with the no2ce of AGM

which wi l l  be held at 10.00am on 26 June 2024 at the offices  of Cavendish, 1 Bartholomew Close, London EC1A 7BL.

 

 

For more information, contact:

 

Tialis Essential IT Plc
Andy Parker, Executive Chairman
 

Tel : +44 (0)344 874 1000

Cavendish Capital Markets Ltd
Nominated Adviser and Broker
Corporate finance: Jonny Frankl in-Adams/ Abby Kel ly
ECM: Tim Redfern
 

Tel : +44 (0)20 7220 0500

 

 

Chairman's Statement

http://www.tialis.com


Chairman's Statement
 

I  am del ighted to report the growth that Tia l is  has  achieved in 2023, demonstrated by our growth in revenue of by 54%

to £22.4 mi l l ion (2022: £14.5 mi l l ion). These results  are based on developing long-term relationships  with third-party

system integrators  and supply contracts  typical ly with 3-5-year terms. Therefore, as  we experience further growth, we

are generating a  strong annuity income stream, with a  strong pipel ine of prospects .

 

We have had a strong start to 2024 with eight new end-user customer contract awards, including four new channel

partners , giving us  a  mul2year current pipel ine (new bus iness  and contract renewals) of £20.1 mi l l ion, a l lowing us

strong vis ibi l i ty over future growth.

 

Fol lowing the Groups reorganisa2on and series  of acquis i2ons and divestments  in recent years  we now have a strong

base to support a  period of sustained growth and we are exploring organic and further acquis i2ve methods  to

accelerate this  development.

 

This  year we welcomed Nicolas  Bedford and MaGhew Ri ley as  Non-Execu2ve Directors  to Board. Their experience and

input have been invaluable and we welcome their advice and support as  we con2nue to del iver on our strategic

ambitions.

   

Highl ights  in the year include:

 

·      54% growth in revenue to £22.4 mi l l ion (2022:  £14.5 mi l l ion)

·      The successful  asset purchase & integration of the Al lvotec bus iness

·      Improved payment terms on al l  resource-based contracts

·    Renewals  & extens ions  in the fol lowing sectors : nuclear industry, UK  u2l i2es, government/publ ic sector, global

entertainment company, international  health-care corporation, investment management company

·     New business  awards  in the fol lowing sectors : prin2ng solu2ons market leader, UK  u2l i2es, consumer health-

care corpora2on, government/publ ic sector, interna2onal  vehicle rental , workplace and faci l i ty management,

postal  service and courier company, international  multi -sourcing service integration

·    Award of I S O  14001 together with Award of Gold Ecovadis  status  and developing a  new carbon neutral  l i fecyle

solution

·      Successful  renewals  ISO 9001, ISO 20000-1 & ISO 27001 certi fications

·      Cyber Essentia ls  & Cyber Essentia ls  Plus  re-award

·      Signi ficant D&B score improvement

·      Rebranding of company and new website

·      Part of a  consortium that has  won a s igni ficant preferred suppl ier agreement with the government/publ ic sector

·      New partnership agreements  s igned with s ix new major partners , and two further partners  who have expressed

interest in s igning agreements .

·      Strong start to 2024 with numerous new end-user customer contract awards  expected, including four new

channel  partners , gives  us  a  multi  year current pipel ine of over £20.1m, giving us  strong vis ibi l i ty over future

growth

 

People
 
Employee numbers  within the Manage bus iness  increased by 48% within the year fol lowing the Al lvotec acquis i2on

and the company taking on more ons ite managed service contracts .

 

The management team has  made con2nued progress  in s impl i fying the structure of the bus iness  and al igning

services  beGer to support our cl ients . The board would l ike to recognise and thank i ts  employees  who have worked

hard to del iver excel lent cl ient service and retain existing key cl ients .

 

Strategy
 
We intend to con2nue with our organic ini2a2ves  that con2nue to demonstrate pos i2ve growth, including the

expansion of our partner network and we are a lso exploring expansion into Europe. AHer four long years  of

restructuring the Group is  cons idering growth through acquis i2on and would cons ider synergis2c targets  that would

expand and deepen our service offerings .

 

We are a lso exploring addi2onal  complementary solu2ons that can be added to our current services  porIol io,

which would increase our offering to customers  in the end user device market. In addition to this , we are a lso looking



which would increase our offering to customers  in the end user device market. In addition to this , we are a lso looking

at marke2ng strategies  to increase our brand awareness  to the direct market, which can del iver quicker turnaround

on R F P  wins  and therefore faster in year revenue recogni2on. The transforma2on of tradi2onal  on-s i te support

maintenance solu2ons, to our Li fecycle services  is  a lso key, as  i t improves  our margins , reduces  costs  for our

customers  and has  less  risk of margin eros ion than traditional  people-based services .

 

We also recognise the importance placed on sustainabi l i ty and plan to con2nue to improve on our ES G targets  and

our offering of carbon neutral  solutions  to our customers.
 

Current trading and outlook
 

Trading in the current financial  year remains  in l ine with Board expectations. Our multi -year pipel ine (new bus iness

and contract renewals) stands  at £20.1 mi l l ion and continues  to grow, giving us  strong vis ibi l i ty over future growth.

 

O ur expecta2on for the year is  that 85% of revenue wi l l  come from exis2ng contracts  with the remainder through

new business  wins . This , together with a  buoyant pipel ine, gives  us  great confidence in another pos i2ve year of

strong growth for the Group.

 

The key objec2ve for 2024 is  to increase the focus  and u2l isa2on of our l i fecycle faci l i ty which provides  much

greater efficiencies  for our end-user customer, higher levels  of customer sa2sfac2on, together with beGer margins .

I ni2a2ves  are underway with our most s ignificant partner to see an increase in this  area. Adding s ix new partners

to our partner porIol io provides  the company with further opportuni2es, and we con2nue to target new partners  to

expand our channel  reach.

 

Tia l i s  has  carved out a  unique niche as  a  provider of support services  and contract engineering resources  to large

BP O  operators . The l i fecycle solu2on i t has  developed is  widely admired and is  gaining trac2on quickly both among

the new partners  and existing end-user customers  and is  a  real  di fferentiator for the company.
 
Financial Review
 
Results
 
Revenue for the ful l  year at £22.4 mi l l ion (2022: £14.5 mi l l ion), and we have seen gross  profit margin fa l l  by 5%,

from 35% to 30% as  expected, due to the addi2onal  engineering contracts  acquired through Al lvotec. Resul2ng

gross  profit has  increased year-on-year to £6.7 mi l l ion (2022 con2nuing opera2ons: £5.1 mi l l ion). Adjusted

EBITDA* remained at £2.0 mi l l ion (2022: Adjusted EBITDA of £2.0 mi l l ion). The net loss  after tax for the year from is

£1.5 mi l l ion (2022: loss  £0.4 mi l l ion), aHer £2.2 mi l l ion amor2sa2on and impairment expense (2022: £1.2 mi l l ion

amortisation and £0.9 mi l l ion gain on convers ion of the secured loan notes).

 

* Adjus tme nts  a re  a s  fol l owe d; Non unde rl yi ng i te ms , de pre ci a 2on, a mor2s a 2on, i mpa i rme nt, s ha re -ba s e d

pa yme nts , fa i r va l ue  profi t on de fe rre d cons i de ra ti on

 

Non-underlying items

 

Non-underlying i tems rela2ng to restructuring and reorganisa2on amount to £0.7 mi l l ion in the year (2022: £0.4

mi l l ion).

 

Finance costs

 

AHer incurring net finance charges  of £0.6 mi l l ion rela2ng to interest and arrangement fees  for loan notes , leases

and bank debt (2022: £2.3 mi l l ion), the loss  before tax is  £1.8 mi l l ion (2022: loss  of £1.3 mi l l ion).

 

Taxation

 

The u2l isa2on of tax losses  and the benefit of the increase in the rate of corpora2on tax on the deferred tax asset

has  resulted in a  tax credit for the year of £0.2 mi l l ion (2022: tax credit £0.8 mi l l ion).

 

Loss on continuing operations

 

W hi lst the underlying trading performance of Manage shows s ignificant pos i2ve EB I TDA, group costs , finance

costs  and amor2sa2on charges  on the soHware l icences  result in a  loss  aHer tax for the year of £1.5 mi l l ion

(2022: £0.6 mi l l ion), which equates  to a  bas ic loss  per share of 6.45 pence (2022: loss  per share of 0.10 pence).

 



 

Statement of Financial Position

 

Non-current assets

 

The Group has  property, plant and equipment of £0.9 mi l l ion (2022: £1.1 mi l l ion) a l l  of which are subject to

deprecia2on as  per the pol icies  set out in the accompanying financial  s tatements . During the year there were

additions  of £0.2 mi l l ion (2022: £0.5 mi l l ion additions).

 

Further, intangible assets  of customer contracts  and related rela2onships  are £7.1 mi l l ion (2022: £7.1 mi l l ion)

and are subject to amortisation as  per the pol icies  set out in the accompanying financial  s tatements .

 

Trade and other receivables

 

Trade and other receivables  have increased to £5.0 mi l l ion from £3.7 mi l l ion.

 

Trade and other payables

 

Trade and other payables  amounted to £4.4 mi l l ion (2022: £4.5 mi l l ion), including trade payables  of £2.4 mi l l ion

(2022: £2.7 mi l l ion) taxa2on and socia l  securi ty of £1.0 mi l l ion (2022: £0.8 mi l l ion) and accruals  of £0.9 mi l l ion

(2022: £1.0 mi l l ion).

 

Contract l iabi l i2es  arise from customers  being invoiced in advance of services  del ivered, in accordance with

individual  contractual  terms, at the balance sheet date this  amounted to £0.7 mi l l ion (2022: £0.1 mi l l ion).

Contract l iabi l i ties  have increased in 2023 as  a  result of the Al lvotec acquis i tion.

 

Cashflow and net debt

 

Net cash generated from opera2ng ac2vi2es  during the year was  £0.7 mi l l ion (2022 £1.5 mi l l ion generated). O ur

Manage bus iness  con2nues to be cash genera2ve and has  developed excel lent rela2onships  with key strategic

partners . The Group invested £0.08 mi l l ion (2022: £0.2 mi l l ion) in fixed assets . There were no new loans  in 2023

(2022: £ni l ), but repayment of lease l iabi l i2es  consumed £0.2 mi l l ion (2022: £0.3 mi l l ion) of cash. The result i s

that as  at 31 December 2023 there were no bank borrowings  or overdraH debt and the cash balance was £0.3

mi l l ion (2022: £0.4 mi l l ion).

 

Borrowings

 

As  at 31 December 2023, the conver2ble loan notes  l iabi l i ty in the balance sheet was  £ni l  (2022: £130,437) as

these were repaid in August 2023, and the secured loan notes  l iabi l i ty was  £3,964,663 (£2022: £3,489,991).

 

Donations to charities

 

There were no donations  to chari ties  in the year (2022: £33).

 

Going concern

 

The Directors  have produced detai led trading and cashflow forecasts . I n reaching their conclus ion on the going

concern bas is  of accoun2ng, the Directors  note and rely on the improved trading performance, the pos i2ve cash

genera2on that the bus iness  is  now experiencing and the current s igned order book. A reverse stress  test of the

model  has  been run to determine at what level  of shorIal l  in revenues the Group would run out of cash. Given the

commiGed orders  a l ready obtained and the vis ibi l i ty of future revenues, the directors  do not cons ider i t l ikely that

revenues could drop to such an extent that the Group would run out of cash. They have also cons idered the impact

of any delayed customer payments  and have developed plans  to mi2gate any such delays  to ensure that the group

can continue to settle i ts  l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due and operate as  a  going concern.

 

The directors  therefore have an expecta2on that the Group and Company have adequate resources  avai lable to

them to con2nue in opera2onal  existence for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of these

financial  s tatements . Accordingly, the Group and Company con2nue to adopt the going concern bas is  in preparing

these consol idated financial  s tatements .
 

Financing and dividend



Financing and dividend
 

The Directors  do not propose a dividend in respect of the current financial  year (2022: £ni l ).

 

 

 

 

Andy Parker

Executive Chairman

9 May 2024

 

 
Strategic Report
 

Review of the Business
 

A detai led review of the bus iness  is  set out in the Chairman's  Statement and the Financial  Review. The year under

review was a  pos i2ve one for the bus iness  with both con2nuing revenues and gross  margin remaining cons istent

year-on-year and adjusted EB I TDA* remaining pos i2ve, a l though the Group reported a post-tax loss  due to finance

costs , impairments  and restructuring. Future developments  and current trading and prospects  are set out in the

Chairman's  Statement and the Financial  Review. These reports  together with the Corporate Governance Statement are

incorporated into this         Strategic Report by reference and should be read as  part of this  report. The Group's  strategy

is  focused on maximis ing value for stakeholders  by increas ing revenues and profits  by upsel l ing to our current

customer base as  wel l  as  by bringing new customers  on board. 

 

At 31 December 2023, the Board comprised four Directors  (2022: two) a l l  of which were male. At 31 December 2023

the Group had 290 employees  including Directors  (2022: 196) of which 245 were male (2022:164) and 45 were

females  (2022:36).

 

* Adjusted EB I TDA is  defined as  earnings  before interest, tax, deprecia2on, amor2sa2on, impairment charges, non-

underlying i tems, loss  on disposal  of fixed assets  and share-based payments .

 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
 

I den2fying, evalua2ng, and managing the principal  risks  and uncertain2es  facing the Group is  an integral  part of the

way the Group does  bus iness . There are pol icies  and procedures  in place throughout the operations, embedded

within our management structure and as  part of our normal  operating processes.

 

The Board reviews  the principal  risks  on a  bi-annual  basis . The risks  have been amended fol lowing the sale of the

Connect bus iness  with the resultant Group being greatly s impl ified. The impact, measures  in place and tactics  to

mi2gate risks  are assessed on a regular bas is . The risk categories , set out below, have been identi fied by the Board

as  those currently cons idered to poten2al ly have the most materia l  impact on the Group's  future performance. I n

addition to these risks , note 23 contains  detai ls  of financial  ri sks .

 

Customer concentration

 

The Group has  a  s ignificant revenue concentra2on with a  s ingle Partner (83%). This  i s  mi2gated as  there are a

number of end customers, a l l  with different agreements  and contract end dates .  The Group has  traded with the

Partner for over 20 years  and has  long standing rela2onships . The Group is  a lso focused on reducing this

concentration and is  working on several  opportunities  to achieve this .

 

Market and Economic Conditions

 

Market and economic conditions  are recognised as  one of the principal  risks  in the current trading environment. Risk

is  mi2gated by the monitoring of trading condi2ons and changes  in government legis la2on, the development of

ac2on plans  to address  specific legis la2ve changes  and the constant search for ways  to achieve new efficiencies  in

the bus iness  without impacting service levels .

 



 

The Board does  not bel ieve the current macro-economic outlook has  changed the Group's  prospects  given the large

propor2on of the end-customers  being in the publ ic sector. The Group has  a lso undertaken stress  tes2ng of the

detai led trading forecasts  and cashflows taking into account infla2on and interest rate increases. The Board does

not cons ider that these wi l l  change the outlook at present.  I n rela2on to interest rates  increases, the Group's  debt is

at a  fixed rate.

 

Reliance on Key Personnel and Management

 

The success  of the Group is  dependent on the services  of key management and opera2ng personnel . The Directors

bel ieve that the Group's  future success  wi l l  be largely dependent on i ts  abi l i ty to retain and aGract highly ski l led and

qual ified personnel  and to train and manage i ts  employee base. During the year, the restructuring programme

con2nued which resulted in more members  of staff being made redundant and other members  of staff moving into

new roles . For those who remain there are several  employee benefits  and ac2ve communica2on is  encouraged within

the bus iness  to mi2gate the risk of los ing ski l led and qual ified individuals . Furthermore, there is  an appren2ceship

scheme which the Group bel ieves  wi l l  ass ist in tra ining and retaining younger individuals  going forward.

 

Competition

 

The Group operates  in a  highly compe22ve marketplace and whi le the Directors  bel ieve the Group enjoys

certain strengths  and advantages  in compe2ng for bus iness , some compe2tors  are much larger with

considerable scale. The Group monitors  competitors ' activi ty and constantly reviews i ts  own services  and

prices  to ensure a  competitive pos ition in the market is  maintained.

 

Technology

 

The market for our services  is  in a  state of constant innova2on and change. We devote s ignificant

resource to the development of new service l ines , ensuring new technologies  can be incorporated and

integrated with the Group's  core services . The nature of the Group's  services  means that they are exposed

to a range of technological  risks , such as  vi ruses , hacking and an ever-changing spectrum of securi ty risk.

We maintain constant pro-ac2ve vigi lance against such risks  and the Group maintains  membership of

some of the highest levels  of securi ty accreditation as  part of the service i t offers  i ts  customers.

 

s.172(1) Companies Act 2006: Statement of Directors' Duties to Stakeholders
 

Promoting the success of the Company
 

The Directors  are aware of their duty under sec2on 172(1) of the Companies  Act 2006 to act in the way which they

consider, in good fa i th, would be most l ikely to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of i ts  members

as  a  whole and, in doing so, to have regard (amongst other matters) to:
 

·      The l ikely consequences  of any decis ion in the long term;
·      The interests  of the Company's  employees;
·      The need to foster the Company's  bus iness  relationships  with suppl iers , customers  and others ;
·      The impact of the Company's  operations  on the community and the environment;
·      The des irabi l i ty of the Company maintaining a  reputation for high standards  of bus iness  conduct; and
·      The need to act fa i rly between members  of the Company.

 
The Board recognises  that the long-term success  of the Company requires  pos i2ve interac2on with i ts

stakeholders . Pos i2ve engagement with stakeholders  wi l l  enable our stakeholders  to beGer understand the

ac2vi2es, needs  and chal lenges  of the bus iness  and enable the Board to beGer understand and address  relevant

stakeholder views which wi l l  ass ist the Board in i ts  decis ion making and to discharge i ts  duties  under Section 172

of the Companies  Act 2006.

 



Our Commitment
The Company is  commiGed to opera2ng with an inclus ive, transparent, and respecIul  culture and places

particular emphasis  on operating to the highest ethical  and environmental  standards.

 

The Directors  take personal  ownership of the pol icies  and maintenance of the necessary exac2ng standards  of

bus iness  conduct throughout the organisation and for del ivering these corporate and socia l  responsibi l i ties .

 

Stakeholder Engagement
Recruitment and employee management are undertaken in l ine with the Company Employment Pol icy which has

commiGed to a  working environment with equal  opportuni2es  for a l l , without discrimina2on and regardless  of

sex, sexual  orientation, age, race, ethnici ty, national i ty, rel igion, or disabi l i ty.

 

 

We are commiGed to being an equal  opportuni2es  employer and oppose al l  forms of unlawful  discrimina2on. We

bel ieve that staff members  should be treated on their merits  and that employment-related decis ions  should be

based on objec2ve job-related cri teria  such as  ap2tude and ski l l s . For these reasons, a l l  s taff members , and

par2cularly managers  with responsibi l i ty for employment-related decis ions, must comply with the prac2ces

described below:

• recruitment;

• pay and benefi ts ;

• promotion and training;

• discipl inary, performance improvement and redundancy procedures.

 

As  part of the induc2on of a l l  employees  and on a recurring annual  bas is , a l l  employees  have to complete a

mandatory set of tra ining courses , one of which is  on equal i ty, divers i ty and inclus ion in both the workplace and

local  communities .

 

We conduct a  gender pay analys is  annual ly and the report i s  publ ished on the Company's  website.

 

Tia l i s  seeks  to aGract and retain staff by ac2ng as  a  responsible employer. The health, safety and wel l -being of

employees  is  important to the Company. O n the sale of Connect, we engaged with the acquirer and supported al l

the employees  through the trans i2on. Al l  employees  had access  and were encouraged to use the Employee

Ass istance Program with a  24-hour helpl ine.

 

Furthermore, the Company has  commiGed to con2nuous development schemes and wi l l  support employees  to

attain the best for themselves  and the Company through personal  assessment, tra ining and mentoring.

 

External ly, Tia l i s  has  establ ished long-term partnerships  that complement i ts  in-house exper2se and has  bui l t a

network of specia l ised partners  within the industry and beyond.

 

The Directors  have commiGed to promo2ng a company culture that treats  everyone fa irly and with respect and

this  commitment extends to a l l  principal  s takeholders  including shareholders , employees, consultants , suppl iers ,

customers, and the communities  where i t i s  active.

 

Al l  D irectors  are encouraged to act in a  way they cons ider, in good fa i th, to be most l ikely to promote the success

of the Company for the benefit of i ts  shareholders . I n doing so, they each have regard to a  range of maGers  when

making decis ions  for the long-term success  of the Company.

 
Health and Safety
 
Tial is  Group cares  profoundly about the health and safety of our employees, customers  and the communi2es  who

could be affected by our ac2vi2es  and aims to protect them from any foreseeable hazard or danger aris ing from

our activi ties . To this  end in 2023 the Company completed a series  of safety related studies  and reviews, including

electrical  and gas , quan2fied risk assessments  and layer of protec2on analys is  us ing external  experts  to review

the product risk and the appl ica2on on our DarIord s i te. I n a l l  instances  the findings  of the safety risk

assessments  have demonstrated that the risk aris ing from the Tia l is  Group's  ac2vi2es  is  wel l  within acceptable

tolerable risk levels . I n 2024 the Company wi l l  revis i t these assessments  to iden2fy any changes  that have been



introduced which may represent new or variants  of risk.

 

We have a Health and safety pol icy and as  men2oned above al l  employees  have to complete a  mandatory set of

training courses , which include several  health and safety courses , including manual  handl ing, mental  health

awareness , s tress  awareness , bul lying and harassment, display screen set-up and a general  health and safety

course. 

 

The Directors  recognise that the key to successful  health and safety management requires  an effec2ve pol icy,

organisa2on, and arrangements  which reflect the commitment of senior management. The execu2ve management

team implement the Company's  health and safety pol icy and ensure that the Company Health and Safety (H S E)

management system and safety standards  are a l l  maintained, monitored, and improved where necessary.

 

The Company's  activi ties  at i ts  Dartford s i te were del ivered HSE incident free in 2023. 

 

Environment Policies

 

The Company's  Environmental  Pol icy recognises  the importance of our technology from a global  chal lenge

perspec2ve. The Company wi l l  regularly evaluate the environmental  impact of i ts  ac2vi2es, products , and

services , taking a l l  ac2ons necessary to con2nual ly improve the Company's  and i ts  products ' environmental

performance.

 

The Company i s  proud to have been awarded ISO 14001.

 

Tia l is  Group has  a  Carbon Reduc2on Strategy which is  publ ished on the company website. We at Tia l is  Group are

commiGed to reducing our impact on the environment in order to help safeguard our planet for future

genera2ons. We have commiGed to a  wel l -below 2 degrees  Cels ius  trajectory and to maintaining our scope 1 and

scope 2 greenhouse gas  emiss ions  at a  level  30% lower than in our base year of 2018. We have invested in an

environmental  management system cer2fied to I S O  14001 to ensure that we can monitor and manage our

activi ties  to meet our targets .

 

I n addi2on to commiRng to maintaining our scope 1 and 2 emiss ions  at 30% less  than they were in 2018, we wi l l

a lso work to reduce our overal l  greenhouse gas  emiss ions  (scopes  1, 2 and 3) by 2.5% every year from a 2023

basel ine.  We have engaged with Science Based Targets  (S BTi ) to val idate our 30% reduc2on target. S BTi  has

confirmed that our target of a  30% reduc2on from 2018 has  been accepted and wi l l  be publ ished on their website.

They have undertaken due di l igence on the 2018 informa2on we provided and verified i ts  accuracy. As  the work

we have done in the last few years  has  helped us  achieve the 30% target a l ready, we wi l l  now ensure that we

maintain this  lower level .

 

As  men2oned above al l  employees  have to complete a  mandatory set of tra ining courses , which include an

environmental  awareness  course.

 

Strategy
 

We intend to con2nue with our organic ini2a2ves  that con2nue to demonstrate pos i2ve growth, including the

expansion of our partner network and we are a lso exploring expansion into Europe. AHer four long years  of

restructuring the Group is  cons idering growth through acquis i2on and would cons ider synergis2c targets  that

would expand and deepen our service offerings .

 

We are a lso exploring addi2onal  complementary solu2ons that can be added to our current services  porIol io,

which would increase our offering to customers  in the end user device market. I n addi2on to this , we are a lso

looking at marke2ng strategies  to increase our brand awareness  to the direct market, which can del iver quicker

turnaround on RFP wins  and therefore faster in year revenue recognition. The transformation of traditional  on-s i te

support maintenance solu2ons, to our Li fecycle services  is  a lso key, as  i t improves  our margins , reduces  costs  for

our customers  and has  less  risk of margin eros ion than traditional  people-based services .

 

We also recognise the importance placed on sustainabi l i ty and plan to con2nue to improve on our ES G targets

and our offering of carbon neutral  solutions  to our customers.

 

On behalf of the Board

 



 

 

Andy Parker

Executive Chairman

 9 May 2024

 

 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2023   

 

Year ended
 
 Ye a r e nde d  

31 December  
        31

De ce mbe r 

Note 2023  2022 
£000  £000 

Continuing operations   
Re ve nue 3 22,412  14,463 
Cos t of s a l e s 4 (15,762)  (9,408) 
Gros s  profi t  6,650  5,055 

  
Admi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 4 (7,866)  (4,011)  
     
Adjus te d EBITDA*  1,985  1,950  
Non unde rl yi ng i te ms 6 (713)  (421)  
De pre ci a ti on 12 (312)  (208)  
Amorti s a ti on a nd i mpa i rme nt 13 (2,187)  (1,169)  
Ga i n on the  conve rs i on of s e cure d l oa n note s  -   892  
Fa i r va l ue  profi t on de fe rre d cons i de ra ti on 4 22   -  
Cha rge s  for s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts 26 (11)  -  
Ope ra ti ng (l os s )/profi t (1,216)  1,044 
Fi na nce  i ncome 7 102  10 
Fi na nce  cos ts 8 (658)  (2,334) 

    
Los s  on ordi na ry a cti vi ti e s  be fore  ta xa ti on (1,772) (1,280) 
Income  ta x 10 227  843 

    
Los s  for the  ye a r from conti nui ng ope ra ti ons (1,545)  (437) 

 
De re cogni ti on of fore i gn curre ncy re s e rve  a nd di s conti nue d
ope ra ti ons 9  (150) 

 

Los s  for the  ye a r a nd tota l  compre he ns i ve  l os s  a ttri buta bl e  to
owne rs  of the  pa re nt compa ny (1,536)  (587)

 

 
From continuing operations   
Ba s i c a nd di l ute d l os s  pe r s ha re 11 (6.45) p  (0.10) p  
From discontinued operations   
Ba s i c a nd di l ute d l os s  pe r s ha re 11 0.04 p  (0.04) p  

 
Tota l  ba s i c a nd di l ute d l os s  pe r s ha re 11 (6.41) p  (0.14) p  

 
* Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, impairment charge, non-underlying items,

loss on disposal of fixed assets and share-based payments

 

The notes  are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements .



 

Statements of Financial Position  

As at 31 December 2023  
Note Group Company

2023  2022 2023  2022

£000  £000 £000  £000

    
Non-current
assets                                                   

Prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt 12 943  1,076 -   -

Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 13 7,097  7,062  -   -

Inve s tme nts 14  -   - 18,211  18,211

De fe rre d ta x a s s e t 10 3,335  3,108 -  -

Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s 15 100  100 645  9
11,475  11,346 18,856  18,220

Current assets   

Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s 15 5,020  3,661 32  79

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 16 274  414 6  3
5,294 4,075 38 82

Total assets 16,769  15,421 18,894  18,302

Current liabilities   

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 17 4,389  4,544 322  778

Contra ct l i a bi l i ti e s 18 676  51  -   -

Borrowi ngs 20 259  210 -   -
5,324 4,805 322 778

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowi ngs 20 4,561  4,255 3,965  3,490

Conve rti bl e  l oa n note s 21 -  143 -  143

Provi s i ons 19 301  245  -   -
4,862 4,643 3,965 3,633

Total liabilities 10,186  9,448 4,287  4,411

Net/assets 6,583  5,973 14,607  13,891

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  
Sha re  ca pi ta l 25 12,610  12,586 12,610  12,586

Sha re  pre mi um 52,865  50,754 52,865  50,754

Equi ty re s e rve 58  58 58  58

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve 11  - 11  -

Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs (58,961)  (57,425)      (50,937)  (49,507)

Total equity 6,583 5,973 14,607 13,891

 

The  note s  a re  a n i nte gra l  pa rt of the s e  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts . The  Compa ny ma de  a  l os s  of £1.4 mi l l i on i n the  ye a r

e nde d 31 De ce mbe r 2023 (2022: Los s  £6.3 mi l l i on) a nd i n a ccorda nce  wi th s 408 of the  Compa ni e s  Act 2006 ha s  not

pre s e nte d a  compa ny s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome . The s e  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  we re  a pprove d by the

Boa rd of Di re ctors  on 9 Ma y 2024 a nd we re  s i gne d on i ts  be ha l f by:

 

Ian Smith

Exe cuti ve  Di re ctor                                                                                                Compa ny re gi s te re d numbe r: SC368538

 

 

Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2023
 

 
Share based



Group

Share Capital
(a)  

Share Premium
(b)  

Equity reserve
(c)

Share based
payments

reserve (d)  
Retained

Earnings (e)

£000  £000  £000
 

£000  

 

Balance at 1 January 2022 12,418  35,882  58
 

-  (56,838)

Loss for the financial year and total comprehensive expense - - - -
Shares issued for the conversion of secured loan notes and in lieu of a bonus to
an employee (note 25) 168 14,872 - -

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity         

Derecognition of foreign exchange reserve - - - -

At 31 December 2022 12,586  50,754  58  -  (57,425)

 
Balance at 1 January 2023 12,586  50,754  58

 
-  (57,425)

Loss for the financial year and total comprehensive expense - - - - (1,536)
Shares issued for the acquisition of Allvotec and in lieu of a bonus to an employee
(note 25) 24 2,111 - -

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity  

Share based payments charge (note 26) - - - 11

At 31 December 2023 12,610  52,865  58  11  (58,961)

 

(a)    Sha re  ca pi ta l  re pre s e nts  the  nomi na l  va l ue  of e qui ty s ha re s  a nd de fe rre d s ha re s
(b)    Sha re  pre mi um re pre s e nts  the  e xce s s  ove r nomi na l  va l ue  of the  fa i r va l ue  of cons i de ra 2on re ce i ve d

for e qui ty s ha re s  ne t of e xpe ns e s  of the  s ha re  i s s ue
(c)    The  e qui ty re s e rve  cons i s ts  of the  e qui ty compone nt of conve r2bl e  l oa n note s  tha t we re  i s s ue d a s

pa rt of the  fundra i s i ng i n Augus t 2018 l e s s  the  e qui ty compone nt of i ns trume nts  conve rte d or s e ttl e d
The  fa i r va l ue  of the  e qui ty compone nt of conve r2bl e  l oa n note s  i s s ue d i s  the  re s i dua l  va l ue  a He r

de duc2on of the  fa i r va l ue  of the  de bt compone nt of the  i ns trume nt from the  fa ce  va l ue  of the  l oa n

note

(d)    Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts  re s e rve  re pre s e nts  the  a ccumul a te d cos t of the  s ha re  opti ons  i n i s s ue
(e)    Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs  re pre s e nts  re ta i ne d profi ts  a nd a ccumul a te d l os s e s
(f)     On cons ol i da 2on, the  ba l a nce  s he e ts  of the  Group's  fore i gn s ubs i di a ri e s  a re  tra ns l a te d i nto s te rl i ng

a t the  ra te s  of e xcha nge  rul i ng a t the  ba l a nce  s he e t da te . Excha nge  ga i ns  or l os s e s  a ri s i ng from the
cons ol i da 2on of the s e  fore i gn s ubs i di a ri e s  a re  re cogni s e d i n the  fore i gn curre ncy tra ns l a 2on
re s e rve .

 
 

Company Share Capital
(a)

 Share
Premium (b)

 Equity reserve
(c)

 Share based
payments

reserve (d)
 £000  £000  £000  

Balance at 1 January 2022 12,418 35,882 58

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss for the year - - -

Shares issued for the conversion of secured loan notes and in lieu of a bonus to an employee (note 25) 168  14,872 -

Share based payments charge - - -

Balance at 31 December 2022 12,586  50,754  58  

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss for the year  -  -  -

Shares issued for the acquisition of Allvotec and in lieu of a bonus to an employee (note 25) 24  2,111 -

Share based payment charge  -  - -

Balance at 31 December 2023 12,610  52,865  58  

 

(a)    Sha re  ca pi ta l  re pre s e nts  the  nomi na l  va l ue  of e qui ty s ha re s  a nd de fe rre d s ha re s
(b)    Sha re  pre mi um re pre s e nts  the  e xce s s  ove r nomi na l  va l ue  of the  fa i r va l ue  of cons i de ra ti on re ce i ve d

for e qui ty s ha re s  ne t of e xpe ns e s  of the  s ha re  i s s ue
(c)    The  e qui ty re s e rve  cons i s ts  of the  e qui ty compone nt of conve rti bl e  l oa n note s  tha t we re  i s s ue d a s

pa rt of the  fundra i s i ng i n Augus t       2018 l e s s  the  e qui ty compone nt of i ns trume nts  conve rte d or s e ttl e d
The  fa i r va l ue  of the  e qui ty compone nt of conve rti bl e  l oa n note s  i s s ue d i s  the  re s i dua l  va l ue  a fte r

de ducti on of the  fa i r va l ue  of the      de bt compone nt of the  i ns trume nt from the  fa ce  va l ue  of the  l oa n

note

(d)    Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts  re s e rve  re pre s e nts  the  a ccumul a te d cos t of the  s ha re  opti ons  i n i s s ue .



(d)    Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts  re s e rve  re pre s e nts  the  a ccumul a te d cos t of the  s ha re  opti ons  i n i s s ue .
(e)    Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs  re pre s e nts  re ta i ne d profi ts  a nd a ccumul a te d l os s e s

Statements of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2023
 

Group Note 2023  2022

£000  £000

Cash flows from operating activities  

Profi t/(l os s ) from conti nui ng ope ra ti ons :  (1,772)  (1,280)

Profi t from di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons  9  -

Tota l  l os s  be fore  ta x  (1,763)  (1,280)

Adjustments for:  

De pre ci a ti on of prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt 12 312  208

Amorti s a ti on of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 13 2,187  1,169

Ne t fi na nce  e xpe ns e s 7, 8 556  2,324

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 26  11  -

Ga i n on conve rs i on of s e cure d l oa n note s   -  (892)

De cre a s e /(i ncre a s e ) i n tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s (1,359)  521
Incre a s e /(de cre a s e ) i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s  a nd

contra ct l i a bi l i ti e s 658  (461)

Incre a s e /(de cre a s e ) i n provi s i ons 56 (114)

Net cash generated from operating activities  658  1,475

Cash flows from investing activities  

Acqui s i ti on of prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt (75)  (208)

Net cash used in investing activities   (75) (208)

Cash flows from financing activities  

 Inte re s t re ce i ve d 19  10

 Inte re s t pa i d (84)  (268)

 Suppl i e r fi na nce  re pa i d (281)  (558)

Conve rti bl e  l oa n note s  re pa i d (152)  -

Ni move ri  l oa n note  re pa i d -  (100)

Re pa yme nt of l e a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s 20 (225)  (286)

Net cash generated from/ (absorbed by) financing activities   (723)  (1,202)

Ne t (de cre a s e )/i ncre a s e  i n ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts (140) 65

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t 1 Ja nua ry 414  349

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December   274  414

Cash and cash equivalents comprise  

Ca s h a t ba nk 16  274  414

 

for the year ended 31 December 2023
 

Company Note 2023 2022

£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Los s  be fore  ta x for the  ye a r (1,430) (4,298)

Adjustments for:



Adjustments for:

Ne t fi na nci a l  e xpe ns e s        484 2,067

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 11 -

(935) (2,231)

De cre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s               47         (49)

(De cre a s e )/i ncre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s (456) 239

Net cash used in operating activities       (1,344) (2,041)

Cash flows from investing activities

Amounts  re pa i d by s ubs i di a ri e s     1,499 2,042

Net cash generated from investing activities        1,499 2,042
 
Cash flows from financing activities

Re pa yme nt of l oa n note s , ne t of e xpe ns e s (152) -

Net cash generated from financing activities (152) -

Ne t de cre a s e  i n ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 3 1

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t 1 Ja nua ry     3 2

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 16 6 3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1       Accounting policies

 
Tia l i s  Essen2al  I T P LC ("Tia l is  Group") i s  a  company incorporated in Scotland, domici led in the United K ingdom

and l imited by shares  which are publ icly traded on AI M, the market of that name operated by the London Stock

Exchange. The registered office is  24 Dubl in Street, Edinburgh EH1 3P P  and the principal  place of bus iness  is  in the

United Kingdom.

 

The principal  activi ty of the Group is  the provis ion of network, cloud and IT managed services .

 

The principal  accoun2ng pol icies , which have been appl ied cons istently in the prepara2on of these consol idated

and parent company financial  s tatements  throughout the year and al l  by subs idiary companies  are set out below.

 

1.1   Basis of preparation
 

The consol idated and parent company financial  s tatements  of Tia l i s  Group have been prepared on the going

concern bas is  and in accordance with UK-adopted I nterna2onal  Accoun2ng Standards. The consol idated financial

statements  have been prepared under the historical  cost conven2on. The Company has  elected to take the

exemption under section 408 of the Companies  Act 2006 to not present the parent Company's  Income Statement.

 

The accoun2ng framework requires  the use of certain cri2cal  accoun2ng es2mates. I t a lso requires  management

to exercise i ts  judgement in the process  of applying the Group's  accoun2ng pol icies . The areas  involving a  higher

degree of judgement or complexity, or areas  where assump2ons and es2mates  are s ignificant to the consol idated

financial  s tatements  are disclosed in note 1.26 in the accoun2ng pol icies . The financial  s tatements  are prepared

in GBP (being the functional  currency of the Group) and rounded to the nearest £1,000.

 

Going concern
 

The Directors  have produced detai led trading and cashflow forecasts . I n reaching their conclus ion on the going

concern bas is  of accoun2ng, the Directors  note and rely on the improved trading performance, the pos i2ve cash

genera2on that the bus iness  is  now experiencing and the current s igned order book. A reverse stress  test of the

model  has  been run to determine at what level  of shorIal l  in revenues the Group would run out of cash. Given the

commiGed orders  a l ready obtained and the vis ibi l i ty of future revenues, the directors  do not cons ider i t l ikely that

revenues could drop to such an extent that the Group would run out of cash. They have also cons idered the impact

of any delayed customer payments  and have developed plans  to mi2gate any such delays  to ensure that the group

can con2nue to seGle i ts  l iabi l i2es  as  they fa l l  due and operate as  a  going concern.  The directors  therefore have



can con2nue to seGle i ts  l iabi l i2es  as  they fa l l  due and operate as  a  going concern.  The directors  therefore have

an expecta2on that the Group and Company have adequate resources  avai lable to them to con2nue in opera2onal

existence for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of these financial  s tatements .  Accordingly,

the Group and Company con2nue to adopt the going concern bas is  in preparing these consol idated financial

statements .

 

1.2   Basis of consolidation
 

Subsidiaries  are a l l  en22es (including structured en22es) over which the Group has  control . The Group controls

an en2ty when the Group is  exposed to, or has  rights  to, variable returns  from i ts  involvement with the en2ty and

has  the abi l i ty to affect those returns  through i ts  power over the en2ty. Subs idiaries  are ful ly consol idated from

the date on which control  i s  transferred to the Group. They are deconsol idated from the date that control  ceases.

 

The Group appl ies  the acquis i2on method to account for bus iness  combina2ons. The cons idera2on transferred

for the acquis i2on of a  subs idiary is  the total  of the fa ir values  of the assets  transferred, the l iabi l i2es  incurred to

the former owners  of the acquiree and the equity interests  i ssued by the Group. The cons idera2on transferred

includes  the fa ir value of any asset or l iabi l i ty resulting from a contingent cons ideration arrangement. Identi fiable

assets  acquired, l iabi l i ties  and contingent l iabi l i ties  assumed in a  bus iness  combination are measured ini tia l ly at

their fa i r values  at the acquis i2on date. The Group recognises  any non-control l ing interest in the acquiree on an

acquis i2on-by-acquis i2on bas is , ei ther at fa i r value or at the non-control l ing interest's  propor2onate share of the

recognised amounts  of the acquiree's  identi fiable net assets .

 

Acquis i tion related costs  are expensed as  incurred.

 

I ntercompany transac2ons, balances  and unreal ised gains  on transac2ons between Group companies  are

el iminated on consol ida2on. Accoun2ng pol icies  of subs idiaries  have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with pol icies  adopted by the Group.

 
1.3 Investments

 

I nvestments  in subs idiaries  are held at cost less  accumulated impairment losses . A formal  assessment of the

recoverabi l i ty of the investment values  is  undertaken on an annual  bas is  by the Directors . W here indicators  of

impairment are identi fied, fixed asset investments  are impaired accordingly.

 

1.4 Intangible assets
 

Goodwill
 

Goodwi l l  i s  ini2al ly measured as  the excess  of the aggregate of the cons idera2on transferred and the fa ir value of

any non- control l ing interest over the fa ir value of the net iden2fiable assets  acquired and l iabi l i2es  assumed. I f

this  cons idera2on is  lower than the fa ir value of the net assets  of the subs idiary acquired, the difference is

recognised in the income statement as  a  bargain purchase.

 

Fol lowing ini tia l  recognition, goodwi l l  i s  measured at cost less  any accumulated impairment losses .

 

For the purposes  of impairment tes2ng, goodwi l l  acquired in a  bus iness  combina2on is  a l located to a  cash

generating unit.

 

Goodwi l l  impairment reviews are undertaken annual ly or more frequently i f events  or changes  in ci rcumstances

indicate a  potentia l  impairment. Any impairment is  recognised immediately as  an expense and is  not subsequently

reversed.

 

Other intangible assets arising from business combinations
 

I ntangible assets  that meet the cri teria  to be separately recognised as  part of a  bus iness  combina2on are carried

at cost (which is  equal  to their fa i r value at the date of acquis i2on) less  accumulated amor2sa2on and

impairment losses . An intangible asset acquired as  part of a  bus iness  combina2on is  recognised outs ide of

goodwi l l  i f the asset i s  separable or arises  from contractual  or other legal  rights  and i ts  fa i r value can be

measured rel iably. I ntangible assets  acquired in this  manner include trademarks  and customer contracts . They

are amortised over their estimated useful  l ives  on a straight-l ine bas is  as  fol lows:

 



 

·      Customer contracts  and related relationships                2-13 years
·      Trademarks                                                                            5 years

 

Impairment and amortisation charges  are included within the administrative expenses  l ine in the income statement.

 

Technology development
 

Expenditure on internal ly developed technology is  capital ised i f i t can be demonstrated that:

 

- i t i s  technical ly feas ible to develop the technology for i t to be used or sold
- adequate resources  are avai lable to complete the development
- there is  an intention to complete and for the Group to use or sel l  the technology
- use or sale of the asset wi l l  generate future economic benefi ts , and
- expenditure on the project can be measured rel iably.

 

Capital ised development costs  are amor2sed over the periods  the Group expects  to benefit from us ing or sel l ing

the assets  developed. The amor2sa2on expense is  included within the administra2ve expenses  l ine in the income

statement. Development expenditure not sa2sfying the above cri teria  and expenditure on the research phase of

internal  projects  are recognised in the consol idated income statement as  incurred.

 

Software and licensing
 

Separately acquired soHware and l icenses  are shown at historical  cost less  accumulated amor2sa2on and

impairment losses .

They are amortised over their estimated useful  l ives  on a straight-l ine bas is  as  fol lows:

·      Software and l icens ing                                                        8 years
 

Property, plant and equipment

 
P roperty, plant and equipment are stated at cost less  accumulated deprecia2on and any impairment in value. The

cost includes  the original  price of the asset and the cost aGributable to bringing the asset to i ts  current working

condition for i ts  intended use.

 
Deprecia2on, down to res idual  value, i s  calculated on a straight-l ine bas is  over the es2mated useful  l i fe of the

asset, which is  reviewed on an annual  bas is , as  fol lows:

 

·      Leasehold property                                                             Over remaining lease term
·      Network infrastructure                                                       3 - 10 years
·      Equipment, fixtures  and fi ttings                                         3 - 5 years

 

An i tem of property, plant and equipment is  de-recognised upon disposal  or when no future economic benefits  are

expected to arise from the con2nued use of the asset. Any gain or loss  aris ing on derecogni2on of the asset

(calculated as  the di fference between the net disposal  proceeds and the carrying amount of the i tem) is  included in

the income statement in the year the i tem is  de-recognised.

 

Right-of-use assets
 

A right-of-use asset i s  recognised at the commencement date of a  lease. The right-of-use asset i s  measured at cost,

which comprises  the ini2al  amount of the lease l iabi l i ty, adjusted for, as  appl icable, any lease payments  made at

or before the commencement date net of any lease incen2ves  received, any ini2al  direct costs  incurred, and,

except where included in the cost of inventories , an es2mate of costs  expected to be incurred for dismantl ing and

removing the underlying asset, and restoring the s i te or asset.

 

Right-of-use assets  are depreciated on a straight-l ine bas is  over the unexpired period of the lease or the es2mated

useful  l i fe of the asset, whichever is  the shorter. W here the Group expects  to obtain ownership of the leased asset

at the end of the lease term, the deprecia2on is  over i ts  es2mated useful  l i fe. Right-of use assets  are subject to

impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease l iabi l i ties .

 

1.5   Impairment of assets
 

Goodwi l l  i s  not subject to amor2sa2on and is  reviewed for impairment annual ly or more frequently i f events  or

changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate the carrying value may be impaired. As  at the acquis i2on date, any goodwi l l



changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate the carrying value may be impaired. As  at the acquis i2on date, any goodwi l l

acquired is  a l located to each of the cash generating units  expected to benefi t from the bus iness  combination's

synergies . I mpairment is  determined by assess ing the recoverable amount of each cash genera2ng unit to which

the goodwi l l  relates . W hen the recoverable amount of the cash genera2ng unit i s  less  than the carrying amount,

including goodwi l l , an impairment loss  i s  recognised.

 

O ther intangible assets  and property, plant and equipment are subject to amor2sa2on and deprecia2on and are

reviewed for impairment whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate the carrying values  may not be

recoverable. I f any such indica2on exists  and where the carrying value exceeds the es2mated recoverable amount,

the assets  or cash generating units  are written down to their recoverable amount.

 

The recoverable amount of intangible assets  and property, plant and equipment is  the greater of the fa ir value less

costs  to sel l  and value in use. I n assess ing value in use, the es2mated future cash flows are discounted to their

present values  us ing a  pre-tax discount rate that reflects  current market assessments  of the 2me value of money

and the risks  specific to the asset. For an asset that does  not generate largely independent cash inflows, the

recoverable amount is  determined by the cash genera2ng unit to which the asset belongs. Fair value less  costs  to

sel l  i s , where known, based on actual  sales  price net of costs  incurred in comple2ng the disposal . Non-financial

assets , other than goodwi l l , that were impaired in previous  periods  are reviewed annual ly to assess  whether the

impairment is  s ti l l  relevant.

 

1.6   Share capital
 

O rdinary shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly aGributable to the issue of new shares  or

options  are shown in equity as  a  deduction from proceeds.

 

 

1.7 Leases
 

A lease l iabi l i ty i s  recognised at the commencement date of a  lease. The lease l iabi l i ty i s  ini2al ly recognised at the

present value of the lease payments  to be made over the term of the lease, discounted us ing the interest rate

impl ici t in the lease or, i f that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the Group's  incremental  borrowing rate. Lease

payments  comprise of fixed payments  less  any lease incen2ves  receivable, variable lease payments  that depend

on an index or a  rate, amounts  expected to be paid under res idual  value guarantees, exercise price of a  purchase

op2on when the exercise of the op2on is  reasonably certain to occur, and any an2cipated termina2on penal2es.

The variable lease payments  that do not depend on an index or a  rate are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.

 

Lease l iabi l i2es  are measured at amor2sed cost us ing the effec2ve interest method. The carrying amounts  are

remeasured i f there is  a  change in the fol lowing: future lease payments  aris ing from a change in an index or a  rate

used; res idual  guarantee; lease term; certainty of a  purchase op2on and termina2on penal2es. W hen a lease

l iabi l i ty i s  remeasured, an adjustment is  made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss  i f the

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset i s  ful ly written down.

 

1.8 Provisions
 

P rovis ions  are recognised when the Company has  a  present obl iga2on (legal  or construc2ve) as  a  result of a  past

event where i t i s  probable that an outflow of resources  embodying economic benefi ts  wi l l  be required to settle the

obl igation and a rel iable es2mate can be made of the amount of the obl iga2on. I f the effect of the 2me value of

money is  materia l , provis ions  are determined by discoun2ng the expected future cash flows at a  risk-free rate that

reflects  current market assessments  of the 2me value of money and, where appropriate, the risks  specific to the

l iabi l i ty.

 

1.9 Current and deferred income tax
 

Current tax assets  and l iabi l i2es  are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the

taxa2on authori2es, based on tax rates  and laws that are enacted or substan2vely enacted by the balance sheet

date.

 

Deferred income tax is  provided for on al l  temporary differences  at the balance sheet date between the tax bases

of assets  and l iabi l i2es  and their carrying amounts  for financial  repor2ng purposes, with the fol lowing



of assets  and l iabi l i2es  and their carrying amounts  for financial  repor2ng purposes, with the fol lowing

exceptions:

 

·      where the temporary difference arises  from the ini2al  recogni2on of goodwi l l  or an asset or l iabi l i ty in a
transac2on that i s  not a  bus iness  combina2on that at the 2me of the transac2on neither affects
accounting nor taxable profi t or loss ;

 

·      in respect of taxable temporary differences  associated with investments  in subs idiaries , where the 2ming
of the reversal  of the temporary differences  can be control led and i t i s  probable that the temporary
di fferences  wi l l  not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

 

·      deferred income tax assets  are recognised only to the extent that i t i s  probable that taxable profits  wi l l  be
avai lable against which deduc2ble temporary differences  carried forward tax credits  or tax losses  can be
uti l i sed.

 

1.10  Trade and other receivables
 

Trade receivables , which principal ly represent amounts  due from customers, are recognised at amortised cost as

they meet the IFRS 9 class i fication test of being held to col lect, and the cash flow characteristics  represent solely

payments  of principal  and interest.

 
The Group has  appl ied the S impl ified Approach applying a  provis ion matrix based on number of days  past due to

measure l i fe2me expected credit losses  and aHer taking into account customers  with different credit risk profiles

and current and forecast trading conditions.

 
Trade receivables  are wriGen-off when there is  no reasonable expecta2on of recovery, such as  a  debtor fa i l ing to

engage in a  repayment plan with the company. The Group's  trade and other receivables  are non-interest bearing.

 

1.11  Cash and cash equivalents
 

Cash and cash equivalents  in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits  with

an original  maturi ty of three months  or less .

 

For the purposes  of the consol idated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents  cons ist of cash and cash

equivalents  as  defined above.

 
1.12  Foreign currencies

 

The presenta2onal  currency of the Group is  Pound Sterl ing (£) and the Group conducts  the majori ty of i ts  bus iness

in Sterl ing. Transac2ons in foreign currencies  are ini2al ly recorded in the presenta2onal  currency by applying the

rate of exchange rul ing at the date of the transac2on. Monetary assets  and l iabi l i2es  denominated in foreign

currencies  are retrans lated at the presenta2onal  currency rate of exchange rul ing at the balance sheet date. Al l

di fferences  are taken to the income statement.

 

1.13  Pensions
The Group operates  a  defined contribu2on scheme.  Pens ion costs  are charged directly to the income statement in

the period to which they relate on an accruals  bas is .  The Group has  no further payment obl iga2ons once

contributions  have been made.

 

The Group also operates  two individual  defined benefit plans, as  a  result of two employees  who were TUP E'd into

the Group. These are closed to any other employees. A defined benefit plan defines the pens ion benefit that the

employee wi l l  receive on re2rement, usual ly dependent upon several  factors  including age, length of service and

remuneration. A defined benefi t plan is  a  pens ion plan that i s  not a  defined contribution plan.

 

The l iabi l i ty i s  recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit plan is  the present value of the

defined benefit obl iga2on at the repor2ng date less  the fa ir value of the plan assets  at the repor2ng date. I f the

defined benefi t plan is  in surplus  an asset i s  only recognised i f this  i s  deemed recoverable.

 

The defined benefit obl iga2on is  calculated us ing the projected unit credit method. Annual ly the Group engages

independent actuaries  to calculate the obl iga2on. The present value is  determined by discoun2ng the es2mated

future payments  us ing market yields  on high qual i ty corporate bonds that are denominated in sterl ing and that

have terms approximating the estimated period of the future payments  ('discount rate').



 

The fa ir value of plan assets  i s  measured in accordance with the F RS 102 fa ir value hierarchy and in accordance

with the company's  pol icy for s imi larly held assets . This  includes  the use of appropriate valuation techniques.

 

Actuaria l  gains  and losses  aris ing from experience adjustments  and changes  in actuaria l  assump2ons are

charged or credited to other comprehensive income. These amounts  together with the return on plan assets , less

amounts  included in net interest, are disclosed in other comprehensive income.

 
The cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in profit or loss  as  employee costs , except where included in the

cost of an asset, comprises:

(a)        the increase in pens ion benefi t l iabi l i ty aris ing from employee service during the period; and

(b)        the cost of plan introductions, benefi t changes, curtai lments  and settlements .

 

The net interest cost i s  calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obl iga2on

and the fa ir value of plan assets . This  cost i s  recognised in profi t or loss  as  'finance expense/ income'.

 

The company also contributes  to group personal  pens ion pol icies , such contribu2ons being charged against

profi ts  when paid.
 

1.14  Accrual for employee benefits, including holiday pay
 

P rovis ion is  made for employee benefits , including hol iday pay, to the extent of the l iabi l i ty as  i f a l l  employees  of

the Group had left the bus iness  at i ts  reporting date.

 

1.15  Financial assets and liabilities
 

The Group's  financial  assets  and l iabi l i2es  mainly comprise cash, borrowings, trade and other receivables  and

trade and other payables . These are accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting pol icy note.

 

Trade and other payables  are not interest bearing and are stated at their amortised cost.

 

1.16  Convertible loan notes
 

The component parts  of conver2ble loans  issued by the Company are class ified separately as  financial  l iabi l i2es

and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual  arrangements  and the defini2ons of a  financial

l iabi l i ty and an equity instrument. At the date of i ssue, the fa ir value of the l iabi l i ty por2on of conver2ble loan

notes  is  determined us ing a  market interest rate for a  comparable loan note with no convers ion op2on. This

amount is  recorded as  a  l iabi l i ty on an amor2sed cost bas is  us ing the effec2ve interest method un2l  the loan

notes  are redeemed or converted either during or at the end of the term of the conver2ble loan notes. The

remainder of the carrying amount of the loan notes  is  a l located to the convers ion op2on and shown within equity

and is  not subsequently remeasured. W hen the convers ion op2on remains  unexercised at the maturi ty date of the

conver2ble note, the balance recognised in equity wi l l  be transferred to retained earnings. No gain or loss  i s

recognised in the income statement upon convers ion or expiration of the convers ion options.

 

1.17  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
 

Al l  loans  and borrowings  are ini2al ly recognised at fa i r value less  directly aGributable transac2on costs . AHer

ini2al  recogni2on, interest-bearing loans  and borrowings  are subsequently measured at amor2sed cost us ing the

effec2ve interest method. Gains  and losses  aris ing on the repurchase, seGlement or otherwise cancel la2on of

l iabi l i ties  are recognised in the finance cost l ine in the income statement.

 

1.18  Finance costs
 

Loans  are carried at fa i r value on ini2al  recogni2on, net of unamor2sed issue costs  of debt. These costs  are

amortised over the loan term.

 

Al l  other borrowing costs  are recognised in the income statement on an accruals  bas is , us ing the effective rate method.

 

1.19  Revenue



 

Revenue is  measured at the fa ir value of the cons idera2on received or receivable for the sale of goods and

services  in the ordinary course of the Group's  ac2vi2es. Revenue is  shown net of Valued Added Tax, returns,

rebates  and discounts  and after the el imination of sales  within the Group.

 

The Group recognises  revenue when the amount of revenue can be rel iably measured, i t i s  probable that future

economic benefi ts

wi l l  flow to the enti ty and when speci fic cri teria  have been met for each of the Group's  activi ties  as  described below.

 

Recurring revenue
The largest por2on of the Group's  revenues relates  to a  number of network, cloud and I T managed services , which

the Group offers  to i ts  customers. Al l  of the revenue in this  category is  contracted and includes  a  ful l  range of

support, maintenance, subscrip2on and service agreements . Revenue for these types  of services  is  recognised as

the services  are provided on the bas is  that the customer s imultaneously receives  and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group's  performance of the services  over the contract term. I n terms of performance obl iga2ons,

the customer can benefit from each service on i ts  own and the Group's  promise to transfer the service to the

customer is  separately iden2fiable from other promises  in the contract. The transac2on price for each service is

a l located to each performance obl iga2on. The costs  incurred for these revenue streams typical ly match the

revenue paGern. A contract l iabi l i ty i s  recognised when bi l l ing occurs ahead of revenue recogni2on. A contract

asset i s  recognised when the revenue recogni2on cri teria  were met but in accordance with the underlying contract,

the sales  invoice has  not been issued yet.

 

Project revenue

These project services  include mainly instal la2on and consultancy services . Performance obl iga2ons are met

once the hours  or days  have been worked. Revenue is  therefore recognised over 2me based on the hours  or days

worked at the agreed price per hour or day. The costs  incurred for this  revenue stream general ly match the revenue

paGern, as  a  s ignificant por2on of consultancy costs  relate to staff costs , which are recognised as  incurred.

Consultancy services  are general ly provided on a time and materia l  bas is .

 

1.20  Government Grants
 

Grants  from the government are recognised at their fa i r value where there is  a  reasonable assurance that the grant

wi l l  be received and the Group wi l l  comply with a l l  attached conditions.

 

1.21  Non-underlying items
 

I t i s  the pol icy of the Group to iden2fy certain costs , which are materia l  ei ther because of their s ize or nature,

separately on the face of the I ncome Statement in order that the underlying profitabi l i ty of the bus iness  can be

clearly understood. These costs  are identi fied as  non-underlying i tems, and comprise;

 

a)     Profess ional  fees  incurred in sourcing and completing acquis i tions  and disposals  including legal  expenses
b)     Profess ional  fees  incurred in restructuring and refinancing acquis i tions
c)     Integration costs  which are incurred by the Group when integrating one trading bus iness  into

another, including rebranding of acquired bus inesses
d)     Redundancy costs , including employment related costs  of staff made redundant up to the date of their

leaving as  a  consequence of integration
e)     Property costs  such as  lease termination penalties  and vacant property provis ions  and third-party advisor

fee
 

1.22  Discontinued operations
 

Cash flows and opera2ons that relate to a  major component of the bus iness  that has  been disposed of or i s

class i fied as  held for sale or distribution are shown separately from continuing operations.

 

1.23  Segmental reporting
 

The Chief O pera2ng Decis ion Maker has  been iden2fied as  the Execu2ve Board. The Chief O pera2ng Decis ion

Maker reviews the Group's  internal  repor2ng in order to assess  performance and al locate resources. For

management repor2ng purposes  and operational ly, the continuing operations  of the Group cons ist of Tia l i s  I T

Essentia l  Manage Limited for this  year and the prior year.

 

1.24 Standards and interpretations not yet applied by the Group



1.24 Standards and interpretations not yet applied by the Group
 

For the purposes  of the prepara2on of these consol idated financial  s tatements , the Group has  appl ied al l

s tandards  and interpreta2ons that are effec2ve for accoun2ng periods  beginning on or aHer 1 January 2023.

There was no s igni ficant impact of new standards  and interpretations  adopted in the year.

 

No new standards, amendments  or interpreta2ons to exis2ng standards  that have been publ ished and that are

mandatory for the Group's  accoun2ng periods  beginning on or aHer 1 January 2024, or later periods, have been

adopted early. The new standards  and interpreta2ons are not expected to have any s ignificant impact on the

financial  s tatements  when appl ied.

 

1.25  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
 

Estimates
 

The Group makes  es2mates  and assump2ons concerning the future, which by defini2on wi l l  seldom result in

actual  results  that match the accoun2ng es2mate. The es2mates  and assump2ons that have a s ignificant risk of

caus ing a  materia l  adjustment to the carrying amount of assets  and l iabi l i2es  within the next financial  year are

discussed below:

 

 Recoverability of deferred tax asset -This  includes  es2mates  of the level  of future profitabi l i ty, and a judgement as

to the l ikel ihood of the group undergoing a  restructure of i ts  finances  which would result in s ignificant finance

cost savings.

 

A change in the es2mate of future profits  would result in an equivalent change to the deferred tax asset recognised

of 25% of the change in profits . The re  a re  no re a s ona bl y pl a us i bl e  s ce na ri os  whi ch woul d re s ul t i n the  future

profi ta bi l i ty not be i ng s uffi ci e nt to e na bl e  ful l  re cove ry of the  ta x l os s e s  i n the  a s s e s s me nt pe ri od.

 

Impairment of intercompany balances - The directors  use estimates  in assess ing the level  of impairment of

intercompany balances  at each period end, including the l ikely methods of recovery of the balances  and future

profi tabi l i ty of the underlying trade which would enable repayments  to be made.

 

Judgements
 

I n the process  of applying the Group's  accoun2ng pol icies , management makes  various  judgements  which can

s igni ficantly affect the amounts  recognised in the financial  s tatements . Cri tical  judgements  are cons idered to be:

 

Classification of non-underlying items - the Directors  have exercised judgement when class i fying certain costs

aris ing during integra2on and strategic reorganisa2on projects . The Directors  bel ieve that these costs  are a l l

related to the types  of costs  described in 1.22 above and are appropriately class i fied.

 

Recoverability of deferred tax asset - the Directors  have exercised judgement on the recoverabi l i ty of tax losses

aGributable to future trading profits  generated by the Group, and in doing so this  has  given rise to a  deferred tax

asset, detai ls  of which are shown in note 10 to the financial  s tatements . The judgement involves  assess ing the

extent to which trading losses  can be offset against future profi ts .

 

Useful economic lives of tangible and intangible assets - The annual  deprecia2on and amor2sa2on charge for

tangible and intangible assets  are sens i2ve to changes  in the es2mated useful  economic l ives  and res idual  values

of the assets . The useful  economic l ives  and res idual  values  are re-assessed annual ly. They are amended when

necessary to reflect current es2mates, based on technological  advancement, future investments , economic

u2l isa2on and the phys ical  condi2on of the assets . The remaining useful  economic l i fe of the Al lvotec contract

l i s ts  and assets  are cons idered a source of estimation uncertainty.

 

Deferred Considera6on - the Directors  have exercised judgement on the costs  that wi l l  arise for the deferred

considera2on and the valua2on as  shown in note 13 to the financial  s tatements . At the year end, the deferred

consideration amounted to £0.08m (31 December 2022: £ni l ).

 

2     Segment reporting
 

The Group has  only one operating segment, the Manage Bus iness .



 

3     Revenue
 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts  with customers  is  as  fol lows:

 

Year ended 31 December 2023 Managed Projects Total

services  

Geographical regions  £000 £000 £000

Uni te d Ki ngdom 17,172 5,198 22,370

Europe 39 3 42

Tota l 17,211 5,201 22,412

Timing of revenue recognition
 Goods  tra ns fe rre d a t a  poi nt i n
ti me 98 - 98

Se rvi ce s  tra ns fe rre d ove r ti me 17,113 5,201 22,314

Tota l 17,211 5,201 22,412

 
 

The revenue from the largest customer was £18.7m (2022: £11.7 mi l l ion) or 83% of total  revenue (2022: 81%). No other

customers  account for more than 10% of revenue.

 

Year ended 31 December 2022 Managed Projects Total

Services  

Geographical regions  £000 £000  £000

Uni te d Ki ngdom 10,770 3,632 14,402

Europe 61 - 61

Tota l 10,831 3,632 14,463

Timing of revenue recognition
 Goods  tra ns fe rre d a t a  poi nt i n
ti me 84 - 84

Se rvi ce s  tra ns fe rre d ove r ti me 10,747 3,632 14,379

Tota l 10,831 3,632 14,463

 

 
Contract balances

2023 2022

£000 £000
Receivables  included within trade and other
receivables

3,748 2,499

Contract assets 622 664

4,370 3,163
Contract l iabi l i ties (676) (51)
Total 3,694 3,112

   
 

Contract assets  predominantly relate to fulfil led obl iga2ons in respect of projects  and managed services  which

are bi l led monthly and in arrears . At the point where completed work is  invoiced, the contract asset i s

derecognised, and a corresponding receivable recognised. Contract l iabi l i2es  relate to cons idera2on received

from customers  in advance of work being completed.

 

The Group's  standard payment terms are 30 days  from the date of invoice. Refunds are only due in the excep2onal

ci rcumstances  where the Group does  not meet the performance obl iga2ons set out in a  contract. The majori ty of

revenue for services  is  invoiced monthly, sometimes quarterly, in advance, and goods are invoiced on del ivery.

 

Unsatisfied performance obligations

 

Al l  contracts  for the provis ion of services  are for periods  of one year or less  or are bi l led based on resources

u2l ised. As  permiGed under I F RS 15, the transac2on price a l located to these unsa2sfied contracts  i s  not

disclosed.

 



 

4     Expenses by nature
 

2023 2022

£000 £000

Di re ct s ta ff cos ts 9,408 6,048

Thi rd pa rty cos t of s a l e s 6,354 3,360

Empl oye e  cos ts  wi thi n a dmi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 3,196 2,027

Amorti s a ti on of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 2,187 1,169

De pre ci a ti on 312 208

Sha re -ba s e d pa yme nts 11 -

Non-unde rl yi ng i te ms 713 421

Profi t on s a l e  of a s s e ts (9) -

Fa i r va l ue  profi t on de fe rre d cons i de ra ti on 22 -

Ga i n on the  conve rs i on of s e cure d l oa n note s - (892)

Othe r a dmi ni s tra ti ve  cos ts 1,434 1,078

Tota l  cos t of s a l e s  a nd a dmi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 23,628 13,419

 

5     Auditor's remuneration
 

2023 2022

£000 £000

Audi t of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts 30 28

Amounts  re ce i va bl e  by a udi tors  a nd the i r a s s oci a te s  i n re s pe ct of:

Audi t of fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts  of s ubs i di a ri e s  of the  Compa ny 50 45

Addi ti ona l  fe e s  cha rge d i n re s pe ct of pri or ye a r's  a udi t - 14

Tota l 80 87

 

6     Non-underlying costs
 

I n accordance with the Group's  pol icy in respect of non-underlying costs , the fol lowing charges  were incurred for

the year in relation to continuing operations:

2023 2022

£000 £000

Al l vote c a cqui s i ti on e xpe ns e 242        -

Due  di l i ge nce  on pote nti a l  a cqui s i ti ons  i n the  ye a r 25        -

Empl oye e  s ha re  opti on pl a n s e t-up e xpe ns e 49        -

One -off l e ga l  fe e s 9        -

Re bra ndi ng a s  Ti a l i s  from IDE Group 35        -

Re s tructuri ng a nd re orga ni s a ti on cos ts 353        421

713       421

 

Restructuring and reorganisa2on costs  in the year ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 December

2022 relate to costs  incurred on the restructure of the Group, predominantly redundancy costs , of which £0.4

mi l l ion are staff related as  disclosed in note 9 (2022: £0.04 mi l l ion). O ther integra2on costs  relate to the costs

incurred in integra2ng the Al lvotec acquis i2on. The redundancy costs  include employment related costs  of staff

made redundant because of restructuring post the Al lvotec acquis i2on. The legal  and rebranding expenses  were

non-recurring expenses  incurred during the year.

 

7     Finance Income
 

Continuing Operations
2023
£000

2022
£000

Unwinding of discounted l iabi l i ties 83 -

Interest received 19 10
102  10

 

8     Finance costs
 

Continuing Operations
2023
£000

2022
£000

Interest expense on lease l iabi l i ties 84 98

Unwind of discount on trade payables 90 170

Interest expense in respect of convertible loan notes 9 12



Interest expense in respect of convertible loan notes 9 12

Interest expense in respect of loan notes 475 2,054
658  2,334

 

9     Employee benefits expense
 

Staff costs  for the year for the Group, including Directors , relating to continuing operations  amounted to:

 
2023
£000

2022
£000

Wa ge s  a nd s a l a ri e s 10,643 6,750

Soci a l  s e curi ty cos ts 1,086 739

Othe r pe ns i on cos ts 876 586

Re s tructuri ng cos ts 380 -

12,985 8,075

 
At 31 December 2023, the Group employed 284 staff, including Directors  (2022: 191).

 

The average monthly number of persons  employed by the Group during the year, including Directors , analysed by

category, and relating to continuing operations, was  as  fol lows:

 

Number of employees  

2023 2022

Ope ra ti ons 250 168

Sa l e s  a nd  Ma rke ti ng 9 6

Admi ni s tra ti on 21 15

Di re ctors 4 2

Tota l  a ve ra ge  monthl y he a dcount 284 191

 

The Company employed an average of 5 employees  during 2023 (2022: 2), which were the Non-Execu2ve Chairman

Andy Parker, the Non-Execu2ve Director Nicolas  Bedford and the Execu2ve Directors  I an Smith and MaGhew Ri ley,

and the Chief Financial  Officer. Their remuneration is  as  shown below. No socia l  securi ty costs  were payable.

 

 

For Directors  who held office during the year, emoluments  for the year ended 31 December 2023 for the Group were as

fol lows:

 

Salary/fees Sa l a ry/fe e s

2023 2022

£ £

Executive

Ia n Smi th1

        
221,000 221,000

Andy Pa rke r
       

181,250 53,333

Non-Executive

Ni col a s  Be dford          40,000 -

Ma tthe w Ri l e y
         

36,667 -

Total 478,917 274,333

 
1.     D irectors ' emoluments  to I an Smith were paid to M XC Advisory Limited, a  subs idiary of M XC Capital

Limited.
2.     Andy Parker stepped down from his  role as  Execu2ve Chairman to become Non-Execu2ve Chairman on

1 June 2020. O n 1 February 2023, Andy Parker was  reappointed Execu2ve Chairman. I ncluded in Andy
Parker's  salary/fees, there was a  bonus of £25,000 paid during the year which is  disclosed in the non-
recurring costs  - see note 6.

 

Socia l  securi ty costs  in respect of Directors ' emoluments  were £32,168 (2022: £6,354). No pension contributions

were made to any Director during the year (2022: £ni l ).

 

None of the Directors  made any gains  on the exercise of share options  in 2023 or 2022.

 

10   Taxation
2023 2022

£000 £000

Current tax



Current tax

Curre nt ye a r - -

Current tax - -

Deferred tax credit (227) (843)

Total tax credit (227) (843)

 

(a)         Tax on loss  on ordinary activi ties
 

Reconci l iation of the total  income tax credit:

2023 2022

£000 £000

Los s  be fore  ta xa ti on from conti nui ng ope ra ti ons (1,772) (1,280)

Ta x us i ng the  Uni te d Ki ngdom corpora ti on ta x ra te  of 25% (2022: 19%)

 
 

(443)
 
 

 
(243)

Non-de ducti bl e  e xpe ns e s 312 (117)

Amorti s a ti on a nd i mpa i rme nt of goodwi l l  a nd i nta ngi bl e s  - non qua l i fyi ng a s s e ts - -

Ta x l os s e s  uti l i s e d - not pre vi ous l y re cogni s e d (106) (279)

Adjus tme nt for ra te  cha nge (16) (202)

Pri or ye a r a djus tme nt 26 (2)

Tota l  ta x cre di t (227) (843)

 

 

(b)         Deferred tax (asset)/l iabi l i ty
2023 2022

£000 £000

 

At 1 Ja nua ry (3,108) (2,265)

Cre di t to i ncome  s ta te me nt (227) (843)

At 31 De ce mbe r (3,335) (3,108)

 
(Asset)  Liability  Net (asset)/

liability
£000  £000  £000

   

At 1 January 2022 (4,323)  2,058  (2,265)

Timing di fferences  in respect of tangible assets 140  -  140

Timing di fferences  in respect of intangible assets -  (292)  (292)

Short term timing di fferences 4  -  4
Recognition of losses (695)  -  (695)

(551)  (292)  (843)
At 31 De ce mbe r 2022 (4,874)  1,766  (3,108)

     

Timing di fferences  in respect of tangible assets 83    83

Timing di fferences  in respect of intangible assets -  (292)  (292)

Short term timing di fferences (3)  -  (3)

Recognition of losses  310        (325)      (15)

390  (617)  (227)

At 31 De ce mbe r 2023 (4,484)  1,149  (3,335)

     

 

Deferred tax l iabi l i2es  arose in respect of the amor2sa2on of intangible assets  recognised on acquis i2ons as

fol lows:
2023
£000

2022
£000

Fi xe d  a s s e t ti mi ng di ffe re nce s 1,474 1,766



At 31 De ce mbe r 1,474 1,766

 
Deferred tax assets  arose in respect of trade losses  and fixed asset and other di fferences, detai ls  as  fol lows:

2023
£000

2022
£000

Ta x l os s e s  re cogni s e d 4,152 4,454

Othe r te mpora ry di ffe re nce s - 5

De pre ci a ti on  i n  a dva nce  of ca pi ta l  a l l owa nce s 332 415

At 31 De ce mbe r 4,484 4,874

 

Deferred tax assets  are recognised for tax losses  carried forward of £17.9 mi l l ion (2022: £15.8 mi l l ion) to the

extent that the real isa2on of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits  is  probable. I n assess ing

recoverabi l i ty, management cons iders  that the appropriate period over which profits  can be assessed with a

reasonable degree of certainty, and therefore used to offset the losses , i s  the period to 31 December 2029. The

future taxable profi ts  are assumed to include the impact of the planned convers ion of borrowings  to equity.

 

The evidence supporting the recognition of the deferred tax asset for losses  is  the partia l  use of losses  in the year.

 

The Group had unrecognised trading losses  carried forward at 31 December 2023 of £3.3 mi l l ion (2022: £3.1

mi l l ion). The Company has  no deferred tax assets  or deferred tax l iabi l i2es  as  at 31 December 2023 or 31

December 2022.

 

The Finance Bi l l  2023, which was substan2vely enacted on 24 May 2023, included the announcement that the

corpora2on tax rate for years  star2ng from Apri l  2023 would increase to 25% on profits  over £250,000 and that

the rate for smal l  profits  under £50,000 wi l l  remain at 19% and there wi l l  be a  tapered rate for bus inesses  with

profits  under £250,000 so that they pay less  than the main rate. Deferred tax balances  have been re-measured at

the reporting date taking into account the new rate of tax.

 

11   Earnings per share
 

Basic earnings  per share has  been calculated us ing the loss  aHer tax for the year of £1.5 mi l l ion (2022: Loss  £0.6

mi l l ion and a weighted average number of ordinary shares  of 23,973,027 (2022: 418,575,630). The weighted average

number of ordinary shares  for the purpose of calcula2ng the bas ic and di luted measures  is  the same. This  i s  because

the outstanding warrants  detai ls  of which are given in note 26, would have the effect of reducing the loss  from

continuing operations  per ordinary share and therefore would be anti -di lutive under the terms of IAS 33.

 

Continuing operations
 

2023
          

       2022

Ba s i c a nd di l ute d l os s  pe r s ha re  (pe nce ) (6.45) p (0.10) p

 
Discontinued operations
 

Ba s i c a nd di l ute d l os s  pe r s ha re  (pe nce ) 0.04 (0.04) p
Tota l  ba s i c a nd di l ute d l os s  pe r s ha re (6.41)p       (0.14) p

 

 

11     Property, plant and equipment
 

Group
Leasehold

property Car Leases

 Equipment,
fixtures, and

fittings
Computer

software Total

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Cost



Cost

 

At 1 January 2023 1,821 11 151 116 2,099

Additions  -  105 70 4 179

Disposals  (306) - - - (306)

At 31 December 2023 1,515  116  221  120  1,972

 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2023 954 2 57 10 1,023

Charge for the year 208 21 44 39 312

Disposals  (306) - - - (306)

At 31 December 2023 856  23  101  49  1,029

Net carrying amount

31 December 2023 659  94  119  71  943

31 December 2022 867 9 94 106 1,076

 

 

 

 

Group
Leasehold

property

 

Car Leases

Equipment,
fixtures, and

fittings
Computer

software Total

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Cost

 

At 1 January 2022 1,549 278 2,751 337 4,915

Additions  272  11 92 116 491

Disposals  -  (278) (2,692) (337) (3,307)

At 31 December 2022 1,821
 

11  151  116  
      

2,099

 
Accumulated
depreciation

At 1 January 2022 784 272 2,718 328 4,102

Charge for the year 170 8 20  10 208

Disposals - (278) (2,681)  (328) (3,287)

At 31 December 2022 954  2  57  10  1,023

Net carrying amount

31 December 2022 867  9  94  106  1,076

31 December 2021 765 6 33 9 813

 

 
 

 

Right of use assets
 

The carrying amounts  of property, plant and equipment include right of use assets  as  detai led below:

 



Leasehold
Network

Infrastructure
Car

leases Total

Cost £000 £000 £000 £0000

At 1 January 2022 1,549 - 278 1,827
Additions 272 - 11 283
Disposal - - (278) (278)

At 31 December 2022 1,821 - 11 1,832
Additions - - 105 105
Disposal (306) - - (306)

At 31 December 2023 1,515  -  116  1,631

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022 784 - 272 1,056
Charge for the year 170 - 8 178
Disposal - - (278) (278)

At 31 December 2022 954 - 2 956
Charge for the year 208 - 20 228
Disposal (306) - - (306)

At 31 December 2023 856  -  22  878

Net carrying amount

31 December 2023 659  -  94  753
31 December 2022 867 - 9 876

 
Additions  to the right-of-use assets  during the year were £0.1 mi l l ion (2022: £0.3 mi l l ion).

 

The depreciation charge for the year of £0.3 mi l l ion (2022: £0.2 mi l l ion) relates  to continuing operations  and has

been charged to administrative expenses.

 

Company
 

The Company has  no property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2023 or at 31 December 2022.

 

13           Intangible assets
 

Group Goodwill Trademarks

Customer
contracts and

related
relationships

Technology
development

Software
and

Licensing Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost:

At 1 January 2022  15,598           1,707
             
15,196

                  
935

             
1,833     35,269

Additions -                 -                        -                        -          -      -

At 31 December 2022  15,598           1,707
             
15,196

                  
935         1,833    35,269

Additions  **          -                 -  
                     

2,222                        -                -  
          

2,222  

At 31 December 2023  15,598           1,707
             
17,418

                  
935         1,833    37,491

Impairment and amortisation:

At 1 January 2022  15,598           1,707               6,965
                  

935
             
1,833     27,038

Amortisation for the year *          -              -
               
1,169                      -               -      1,169

Disposal -                -                 -                      -                -       -

At 31 December 2022  15,598           1,707               8,134
                  

935
             
1,833     28,207



At 31 December 2022  15,598           1,707               8,134 935 1,833     28,207

Amortisation for the year *          -               -
              

2,187                      -               -      2,187

Disposal          -                 -                 -
                      
-                -      -

At 31 December 2023  15,598           1,707
             
10,321

                  
935         1,833    30,394

Net carrying amount:

At 31 December 2023          -                  -  
               

7,097                      -                -       7,097

At 31 December 2022 -                 -  
               

7,062                      -          -    7,062

 

*£2.8 mi l l ion of the amortisation charge is  included in the loss  for the year from continued operations  in the

Income Statement within administrative expenses.

 

The remaining unamortised l i fe of the intangible assets  at 31 December 2023 is  as  fol lows:

·      Tial is  IT Essentia l  Manage customer contracts  and related relationships  - 7 years , net carrying value £5.9
mi l l ion.

·      Al lvotec customer contracts  acquired 2023 and related relationships  - 2 years , net carrying value £1.2
mi l l ion.

 

Allvotec asset acquisition February 2023 **

 

O n 1 February 2023, Tia l i s  Essen2al  I T P LC acquired the profitable partner contracts  from Al lvotec Limited, a

divis ion of Daisy Group, for an ini2al  cons idera2on of £2.042 mi l l ion. O n the same date, Tia l i s  Essen2al  I T Manage

Limited, a  subs idiary of Tia l i s  Essen2al  I T P LC, acquired the same contracts  from Tial is  Essen2al  I T P LC for the

consideration of £2.042 mi l l ion.

 

I n addi2on to the partner contracts  the Company has  provided for the es2mated deferred cons idera2on of £0.1

mi l l ion, onerous  contract provis ion of £0.08 mi l l ion and subtracted £0.008 mi l l ion of acquired tangible assets  to

arrive at the £2.222 mi l l ion addition for the year.

 

 

Company
2023
£000

2022
£000

Addi ti ons  ** 2,222 -

Di s pos a l s  ** (2,222) -

At 31 De ce mbe r - -

 

The company had no intangible assets  at 1 January 2022 or 31 December 2022.

 

 

14           Investments
 

Company
2023
£000

2022
£000

At 1 Ja nua ry 2022 18,211 7,877

Addi ti ons - 20,211

Impa i rme nt of i nve s tme nt i n s ubs i di a ry compa ni e s - (9,877)

At 31 De ce mbe r 18,211 18,211

 

The Company has  the fol lowing investments  in subs idiaries :

 

Country of Class of Ownership

Incorporation shares held 2023 2022

Held directly by Tialis Essential IT PLC

IDE Group Li mi te d2 Engl a nd1 Ordi na ry 100% 100%



IDE Group Li mi te d2 Engl a nd1 Ordi na ry 100% 100%

Ti a l i s  Es s e nti a l  IT Fi na nci ng Li mi te d Engl a nd1 Ordi na ry 100% 100%
 

Held indirectly by Tialis Essential IT PLC

Ti a l i s  Es s e nti a l  IT Ma na ge  Li mi te d Engl a nd1 Ordi na ry 100% 100%

IDE Group Subhol di ngs  Li mi te d2 Engl a nd1 Ordi na ry 100% 100%

IDE Group Voi ce  Li mi te d2 Engl a nd1 Ordi na ry 100% 100%
 

1              Registered office is located at Unit 2, Quadrant Court, Crossways Business Park, Greenhithe, Dartford, England, DA9 9AY.
2              In solvent liquidation at the year-end 31 December 2023.

 
At 31 December, the only trading subs idiary of the Company was Tia l is  Essentia l  IT Manage Limited.

 

Tia l i s  Essentia l  IT Manage Limited's  activi ty consists  of IT Managed services .

 

The fol lowing subs idiary is  non-trading.

 

Tia l i s  Essen2al  I T F inancing Limited is  exempt from the requirements  of the Companies  Act rela2ng to the audit of

individual  accounts  by vi rtue of Sec2on 479A and the parent company has  guaranteed al l  their l iabi l i2es  at the

reporting date.

 

 

15     Trade and other receivables
Group Company

Current
2023
£000

2022
£000

2023
£000

2022
£000

Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 3,748 2,499 - -

Contra ct a s s e ts 622 664 - -

Pre pa yme nts  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s   650 498 - 2

Ta xa ti on a nd s oci a l  s e curi ty - -   32  77

5,020 3,661 32 79

 

Group Company

Non-current
2023
£000

2022
£000

 
2023
£000

 
2022
£000

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 100       100 - -

Amounts  due  from s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs - - 645 9

100        100 645 9

 

I n accordance with I F RS 9, the Group reviews the amount of credit loss  associated with i ts  trade receivables , and

contract assets .

 

Customer credit risk i s  managed according to strict credit control  pol icies . The majori ty of the Group's  revenues

are derived from na2onal  or mul2-na2onal  organisa2ons with no prior history of default with the Group. There is

low incidence of default in the top 50 customers. I n respect of these customers  credit risk i s  deemed lower on

customers  that contribute higher revenue due to an increased dependency on the group's  services  for bus iness

continuity, and because they are larger more secure bus inesses.

 

The Group has  appl ied the S impl ified Approach applying a  provis ion matrix based on categorisa2on of the

customer based on total  revenue received by the group per annum to measure l i fe2me expected credit losses  and

aHer taking into account customers  with different credit risk profiles  and current and forecast trading condi2ons

and the days  past due. The historical  loss  rates  wi l l  be adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking

information on macroeconomic factors  affecting the abi l i ty of customers  to settle the receivables .



 

At period end, customers  were categorised into three categories  based on spend in the last 12 months:

1.  Top 10
2.  Top 50
3.  Other

 
Impairment was  calculated based on the category the customer fa l ls  in to:

 

Ca te gory Impairment Rate Carrying amount
Credit loss allowance

(net of VAT)

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

% % £000 £000 £000 £000

Top 10 0 0 3,748 2,499 - -

Top 50 2 2 - - - -

Othe r 5 5    - - - -

Spe ci fi c 100 100 - - - -

3,748 2,499 - -

 

The group is  exposed to credit concentration risk with i ts  largest customer compris ing 83% (2022: 82%) of outstanding

trade  receivables .

 

Specific provis ions  are a lso made based on known issues  or changes  in the l i fe2me expected credit loss . As  at 31

December 2023, trade receivables  of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ) were impaired and ful ly provided for.

 

The crea2on and release of a  provis ion for impaired receivables  has  been in the main included in "administra2ve

expenses" in the I ncome Statement, with an amount being set against contract assets , £ni l  (2022: £ni l ). The other

asset classes  within the Group's  trade and other receivables  do not contain impaired assets .

 

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
The Company has  funded the trading ac2vi2es  of i ts  principal  subs idiaries  by way of inter-company loans. The

amounts  advanced do not have any specific terms rela2ng to their repayment, are unsecured and are interest free.

As  a l l  loans  to subs idiaries  are to be treated as  due on demand, they fa l l  within the scope of IFRS 9.

 

I n accordance with I F RS 9, the Company is  required to make an assessment of expected credit losses . Having

considered the quantum and probabi l i ty of credit losses  expected to arise, management concluded that no

additional  impairment charge was required for expected credit loss . There is  no movement in the provis ion.

 

The calcula2on of the al lowance for l i fe2me expected credit losses  requires  a  s ignificant degree of es2ma2on and

judgement, in par2cular in determining the probabi l i ty weighted l ikely outcome for each scenario cons idered to

determine the expected credit loss  in each scenario. Should the assump2ons in the bus iness  plan vary, this  could

have a s igni ficant impact on the carrying value of the intercompany loans  in fol lowing periods.

 

The recoverabi l i ty i s  sens i2ve to the probabi l i ty of the achievement of future cash flows; however, given the

trading projec2ons and the level  of provis ions, there is  currently no reasonably plaus ible scenario in which the

provis ion would al ter materia l ly. A breakdown of the balances  is  set out in note 19.

 

16             Cash and cash equivalents
Group  Company

2023 2022  2023 2022

£000 £000  £000 £000

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 274 414  6 3

 
The table below shows the balance with the major counterparty in respect of cash and cash equivalents .

 

Group  Company

2023 2022  2023 2022

Cre di t ra ti ng £000 £000  £000 £000

A 274 414  6 3

 

17             Trade and other payables
Group Company



Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Tra de  pa ya bl e s 2,431 2,719 253 536

Amounts  due  to s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs - - 5 175

 Othe r pa ya bl e s
     

85
 

 -
 
-         -

Ta xa ti on a nd s oci a l  s e curi ty   951 846 - -

Accrua l s 922 979          64         67

4,389 4,544 322     778

 
Amounts  due to subs idiary undertakings  are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.

 

18             Contract liabilities
 

Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000

Contra ct l i a bi l i ti e s  re cogni s a bl e  wi thi n 12 months 676 51 - -

 

Income is  deferred to the Statement of Financial  Pos ition when invoicing of revenue to customers  occurs  ahead of

revenue recognition in the Income Statement.

 

19             Provisions
 
Property provision
 

Di lapida2on provis ions  are bui l t up over the associated lease based on es2mates  of costs  of work required to

fulfil  the Group's  contractual  obl iga2on under the lease agreements  to return the property to the same condi2on

as  at the commencement of the lease. The provis ion  i s  not expected to be uti l i sed unti l  2027.

 

Other provisions
 

O ther provis ions  relate to payments  payable by the Group with regards  to defined benefits  pens ion schemes in

which one employee is  a  participant - see note 27.

 

 

Group  
Property

provision
Other

provision
 

Total

 £000 £000 £000

Ba l a nce  a t 1 Ja nua ry 2023 245 - 245

Incre a s e  i n ye a r 42 14 56

Balance at 31 December 2023  287 14 301

 
2023

 
 2022

£000 £000

Non-curre nt           301 245

 

The  Compa ny ha s  no provi s i ons  a t 31 De ce mbe r 2023 (31 De ce mbe r 2022: £ni l ).

 

 

20             Borrowings
 



Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current

Le a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s 596 765 - -

Loa n Note s 3,965 3,490 3,965 3,490

4,561 4,255 3,965 3,490

 

 

Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Le a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s 259 210 - -

     259 210 - -

 
 

The carrying value is  not materia l ly di fferent to the fa ir value of these l iabi l i ties .

 

I n January 2019 the Company issued £5.3 mi l l ion of secured loan notes  with a  s ix-year term and a 12% coupon

which is  compounded, rol led up and payable at the end of the term ("Loan Notes"). I n February and March 2019, a

further £4.7 mi l l ion in total  of secured Loan Notes  were issued. The Loan Notes  carry an arrangement fee of 2.5 per

cent., payable at the end of the term, and an exit fee of 2.5 per cent, a lso payable at the end of the term. The

securi ty comprises  a  debenture over a l l  the assets  of the Group.

 

I n December 2019 the Company issued an addi2onal  £1.5 mi l l ion of Loan Notes  (with the same terms as  those

issued in the fi rst quarter of the year).

 

The Loan Notes  are held at amortised cost us ing the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate for the

Loan Notes  has  been calculated to be 18%.

 

The Company issued a further loan note ("Loan Note 2025") net of expenses  for proceeds of £1m on 1 December

2021. The terms of the loan were that the rate of interest i s  1.5% per month i f repaid by 31 January 2022, 2.5% per

month i f repaid by 28 February 2022 and 3% per month i f repaid by 31 March 2022. I f not repaid by 31 March

2022 the amount due at that date including fees  (£1.1875m) is  then subject to interest at 20.4% per annum

compound. The maturi ty date is  23 December 2025. The Loan Note 2025 was included in the 2 November 2022

convers ion.

 

O n 2 November 2022 the members  mee2ng at the Annual  General  Mee2ng, and then at the General  Mee2ng that

fol lowed, voted to convert £25.5 mi l l ion of loan notes  (including fees  and interest) into share capital . Detai ls  of

the capital  reorganisation and consol idation are set out in Note 25.

 
Lease liabilities
The present value of lease l iabi l i ties  i s  as  fol lows:
31 December 2023  

Group

Gross
contractual

amounts
payable Interest  

 
 

Carrying
amount

2023 2023  2023

£000 £000  £000

Le s s  tha n one  ye a r 331 72  259

Be twe e n one  a nd fi ve  ye a rs 672 76  596



Be twe e n one  a nd fi ve  ye a rs 672 76  596

1,003 148 855
 
31 De ce mbe r 2022

Group

Gros s
contra ctua l

a mounts
 

Ca rryi ng

pa ya bl e Inte re s t a mount

2022 2022 2022

£000 £000 £000

Le s s  tha n one  ye a r 288 78 210

Be twe e n one  a nd fi ve  ye a rs 894 129 765

1,182 207 975

 

The Company has  no lease l iabi l i ties  at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: ni l )

 

Reconciliation of borrowings:
 

Group
Non-current

 Lease liabilities

Current
Lease

liabilities
Non-current
Borrowings

Convertible
Loan Notes

Supplier
Finance

Total
Borrowings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2023 765 210
                 

3,490                   143 1,091 5,699

Non-cash changes
Transfer from current to
non-current (169) 169 - - - -

New finance leases - 105                   -                     - - 105

Loan note interest - -                   475                     9 - 484

Interest - - - - 90 90

Lease interest - 84 - - - 84

Cash flows

Lease interest paid - (84) - - - (84)

Repayment - - - (152) (281) (433)

Repayment of lease liabilities - (225) - - - (225)

Balance at 31 December 2023
 

596
  

259
  

3,965
  

-
  

900
  

5,720

                                                                                                                                                                                                    

The total  cash outflow for leases  in the year including interest was  £309,000 (2022: £384,000).

 

Company
 Le a s e

l i a bi l i ti e s
Curre nt

Borrowi ngs

Non-
curre nt

Borrowi ngs

 
Total

Borrowings

£000 £000 £000  £000

Balance at 1 January 2023 -  - 3,490  3,490

Non-cash changes

Loa n note  i nte re s t -  - 475  475

    

Balance at 31 December 2023 - - 3,965 3,965

 

21             Convertible loan notes
 

Group and Company

 

£000

Ba l a nce  a t 1 Ja nua ry 2023                         143

Inte re s t unwound 9

Loa n re pa i d Augus t 2023 (152)



Balance at 31 December 2023 -

 

O n 21 August 2018, as  part of a  wider fundrais ing, the Company issued £2.55 mi l l ion of unsecured loan notes ,

which have a term of 5 years  and a zero per cent coupon ("C LNs"). The C LNs can be converted into new ordinary

shares  in the capital  of Tia l i s  Essen2al  I T plc at a  price of 2.5 pence per share. Convers ion is  at the op2on of the

holder at any 2me during the 5-year term. At the end of the term, i f the holder has  not chosen to convert the C LNs,

the C LNs wi l l  be seGled with a  cash repayment. At i ssue, the C LNs have a fa i r value of £2.54 mi l l ion, spl i t into an

equity component (£0.96 mi l l ion) and a debt component (£1.58 mi l l ion).

 

O n 7 June 2022 £2,397,519 of the unsecured conver2ble loan notes  issued in August 2018 were converted into

95,900,760 Ordinary shares  of 2.5p each, at a  convers ion price of 2.5p per share.

 

On 21 August 2023 the CLNs were repaid.

 

22             Financial instruments by category
 

The objec2ves  of the Group's  treasury ac2vi2es  are to manage financial  ri sk, secure cost-effec2ve funding where

necessary and minimise adverse effects  of fluctua2ons in the financial  markets  on the value of the Group's

financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties , on reported profi tabi l i ty and on cash flows of the Group.

 

The Group's  principal  financial  instruments  for fundrais ing are conver2ble loan notes  and loan notes. The Group

has  various  other financial  instruments  such as  cash, trade receivables  and trade payables  that arise directly

from i ts  operations.

 

Group
 2023 2022

Assets £000 £000

Amorti s e d cos t:

Tra de  re ce i va bl e s  ne t of cre di t l os s  provi s i on 3,748 2,499

Contra ct a s s e ts 622 664

Othe r re ce i va bl e s 650 498

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 274 414

Total 5,294 4,075

  

 

Company
 2023 2022

Assets £000 £000

Amorti s e d cos t:

Amounts  due  from s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs 645 9

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 6 3

Total 651 12

  
 

The carrying amount of these assets  i s  equivalent to their fa i r value. At 31 December 2023, trade receivables  are

reported net of the expected credit loss  provis ion of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ), amounts  due from subs idiary undertakings

are reported net  of the expected credit loss  provis ion of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ).

 

Group
 

2023 2022

Liabilities at amortised cost £000 £000



Tra de  pa ya bl e s 2,431 2,719

Accrua l s  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 1,007 979

Le a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s 855 975

Conve rti bl e  l oa n note s - 143

Loa n Note s 3,965 3,490

Total 8,258 8,306

 

Company
2023 2022

Liabilities £000 £000

Tra de  pa ya bl e s 253 536

Accrua l s  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 64 67

Inte rcompa ny pa ya bl e s 5 175

Conve rti bl e  l oa n note s - 143

Loa n Note s 3,965 3,490

Total 4,287 4,411

 

The carrying amount of these l iabi l i ties  i s  equivalent to their fa i r value.

 

The Group has  not entered into any derivative financial  instruments  in the current or preceding period.

 

23           Financial risk management
 

The Group's  ac2vi2es  are exposed to a  variety of financial  ri sks : market risk (including cash flow interest rate risk

and price risk), credit risk and l iquidity risk. The Group's  overal l  ri sk management programme focuses  on the

unpredictabi l i ty of financial  markets  and seeks  to minimise poten2al  adverse effects  on the Group's  financial

performance.

 

Risk management i s  carried out central ly under pol icies  approved by the Board of Directors . Management

iden2fies, evaluates  and seeks  to mitigate financial  ri sks . The Board of Directors  provides  principles  for overal l

risk management as  wel l  as  pol icies  covering speci fic areas, such as  foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,

credit risk, use of derivative financial  instruments  and non-deriva2ve financial  instruments , and investments  of

excess  l iquidity.

 

Cash flow interest risk

The Group pays  interest on i ts  borrowings.

 

The Group has  no borrowings  at variable rates  which would expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Borrowings  issued at fixed rates  expose the Group to fa ir value interest rate risk. The Group does  not enter into

derivatives .

 

Price risk

The Group is  not exposed to s igni ficant commodity or securi ty price risk.

 

Credit risk

Credit risk i s  managed at a  subs idiary level . Credit risk arises  from cash and cash equivalents  as  wel l  as  credit

exposures  to customers, including outstanding receivables . I ndividual  risk l imits  are set based on internal  and

external  ra2ngs  and reviewed by management. The u2l isa2on of credit l imits  i s  regularly monitored with

appropriate ac2on taken by management in the event of the breach of a  credit l imit. The Group has  appl ied the

s impl i fied approach applying a  provis ion matrix based on number of days  past due to measure l i fe2me expected

credit losses  and aHer taking into account customers  with different credit risk profiles  and current and forecast

trading conditions. The Group has  recognised a provis ion in respect of trade receivables  of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ).



trading conditions. The Group has  recognised a provis ion in respect of trade receivables  of £ni l  (2022: £ni l ).

 

Liquidity risk

Management reviews cash forecasts  of trading companies  of the Group in accordance with prac2ce and l imits  set

by the Group. The Group's  l iquidity management pol icy involves  projec2ng cash flows and cons idering the level  of

l iquid assets  necessary to meet these.

 
The parent company's  operations  expose i t to the fol lowing risks :

 

Interest rate risk

The Company pays  interest on i ts  loan note borrowings. These are at fixed rates  and therefore there is  no exposure

to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings  issued at fixed rates  expose the Company to fa ir value interest rate risk.

The Company does  not enter into derivatives .

 

Credit risk

The Company is  exposed to credit risk mainly in respect of inter-company receivables . Detai ls  of the approach to

credit loss  provis ions  in respect of intercompany receivables  is  set out in note 15 and note 24.

 

The tables  below analyse the Group and the Company's  financial  l iabi l i ties  into relevant maturi ty groupings  based

on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual  maturi ty date. These amounts  disclosed in the

table are the contracted undiscounted cash flows. Balances  within 12 months  equal  their carrying balances  as  the

impact of discounting is  not s igni ficant.

 

Group  

 

  

 
Within 1

year

 

1-2 years

 More
than 2
years Total

At 31 December 2023 £000  £000  £000 £000

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 4,389 - - 4,389

Le a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s 259 596 - 855

Loa n Note s - 3,965 - 3,965

4,648 4,561 - 9,209

 

 

Group

Wi thi n 1
ye a r 1-2 ye a rs

 More
tha n 2
ye a rs Tota l

At 31 December 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 4,544 - - 4,544

Le a s e  l i a bi l i ti e s 210 728 37 975

Conve rti bl e  l oa n note s 143 - - 143

Loa n Note s - - 3,490 3,490

4,897 728 3,527 9,152

 

Company

Within 1
year 1-2 years  

More
than 2
years Total

At 31 December 2023 £000 £000 £000 £000

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 253 - - 253

Inte rcompa ny pa ya bl e s 5 - - 5

Loa n Note s - 3,965 - 3,965

258 3,965 - 4,223

 
Company



Wi thi n 1
ye a r 1-2 ye a rs  

More
tha n 2
ye a rs Tota l

At 31 December 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 536 - - 536

Inte rcompa ny pa ya bl e s 175 - - 175

Conve rti bl e  l oa n note s 143 - - 143

Loa n Note s - - 3,490 3,490

854 - 3,490 4,344

 

24             Capital risk management
 

The Group's  objec2ves  when managing capital  are to safeguard the Group's  future growth and i ts  abi l i ty to

con2nue as  a  going concern in order to provide returns  for shareholders  and to maintain an op2mal  capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital . The Group operates  in the network and cloud hos2ng sector, which, from

time-to-time requires  substantia l  fixed asset investments , but the Group is  financed predominately by equity.

 

I n order to maintain or adjust the capital  s tructure, the Group has  previous ly both issued new shares , bank debt

and bank faci l i2es , and both unsecured and secured loan notes. The Group monitors  capital  on the bas is  of the

ra2o of net debt to Adjusted EB I TDA. As  at 31 December 2023 the ra2o was 2.3. Net debt as  at 31 December 2023 is

calculated as  total  bank borrowings, as  at 31 December 2023 ni l , and loan notes  (including 'current and non-

current borrowings ' as  shown in the consol idated balance sheet), plus  loans, less  cash and cash equivalents .

Adjusted EB I TDA is  defined as  earnings  before interest, tax, deprecia2on, amor2sa2on, impairment charge, non-

underlying i tems, (loss)/gain on disposal  of fixed assets  and share-based payments .

 

The loan note instrument under which the Secured Loan Notes  were issued does  not contain any covenants ,

however, the Group continues  to careful ly monitor i ts  capital  pos ition. The Group adopts  a  risk-averse pos ition

with respect to borrowings  and maintains  s ignificant headroom to ensure that any unexpected s i tua2ons do not

create financial  s tress .

 

The Group has  not proposed a dividend for the current or prior year.

 

25             Called up share capital - Group and Company
 

Shares issued and fully paid 2023 2022  

£000 £000  

24,222,744 (2022: 21,829,449) Ordinary shares  at 1p
               

242
                      

218  
 

496,702,800 (2022: 496,702,800) deferred shares  at 2.49p
               

12,368
                      

12,368  
 

Shares  issued and ful ly paid
            
12,610              12,586

 

 

Shares issued and fully paid 2023 2022  

£000 £000  

Beginning of the year
            
12,586              12,418

 

Issued during 2023 to acquire Al lvotec assets  (see note 13).                 23
                      

-  
 

Issued during the year on convers ion of secured loan notes  (see below)                 -
                      

167  
 

Issued during the year in l ieu of 2021 staff bonus (see below)                 1
                      

1  
 

Shares  issued and ful ly paid
            
12,610              12,586

 

 
 

Share capital allotted, called up and fully paid 2023 2023 2022



Share capital allotted, called up and fully paid 2023 2023 2022

 
No.

Ordinary
Shares

No.
Deferred

Shares
No. Shares

Be gi nni ng of the  ye a r 496,702,792 s ha re s  a t 2.5p 21,829,449  496,702,800 496,702,792

Is s ue  to the  Compa ny Se cre ta ry of 8 ne w s ha re s  a t 2.5p -  -  8

Sub-di vi s i on of 496,702,780 s ha re s  i nto a  re de nomi na te d 0.01p s ha re  a nd a
de fe rre d s ha re  2.49p  - -  496,702,800

Cons ol i da ti on of 496,702,800 re de nomi na te d 0.01p s ha re  to 4,967,028 s ha re s  a t 1p -  -  (491,735,772)
Is s ue  of 104,000 s ha re s  a t 1p i n l i e u of 2021 s ta ff bonus  (fi rs t a nd s e cond tra nche
of thre e  tra nche s ) 104,000  -  104,000

Is s ue  of 16,758,421 s ha re s  a t 1p on conve rs i on of s e cure d l oa n note s -  -  16,758,421

Is s ue  of 2,289,295 to a cqui re  Al l vote c (s e e  Note  13) 2,289,295  - -

End of the  ye a r 24,222,744 496,702,800 518,532,249

 

The par value of the shares  new O rdinary shares  is  1p and the Deferred shares  is  2.49p (2021: old O rdinary shares

2.5p).

 

The holders  of ordinary shares  are en2tled to receive dividends as  declared from 2me to 2me and are en2tled to

one vote per share at meetings  of the Company.

 

The holders  of Deferred shares  are not en2tled to receive dividends, nor are they en2tled to vote. The holders  of

Deferred shares  are en2tled to £1 for the en2re class  on winding up. The Company at any2me may, at i ts  op2on,

redeem al l  the Deferred shares  for £1. The Directors  cons ider the Deferred shares  of no economic value.

 

O n 3 February 2023 2,289,295 new O rdinary 1p shares  were al located to acquire the assets  and l iabi l i2es  of

Al lvotec (see note 13).

 

O n 31 May 2023 104,000 new O rdinary 1p shares  were al loGed to a  member of staff in l ieu of one-third of his

2021 bonus.

 

As  at 31 December 2023 the Company has  a  total  number of shares  in issue of 520,925,544 with a  total  nominal

value of £12,610,127. The Company has  24,222,744 new O rdinary shares  of 1p and 496,702,800 Deferred shares

of 2.49p.

 

 

26             Share-based payments
 

The share-based payment charge comprises:
2023 2022
£000 £000

Equi ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -ba s e d cha rge s  a ri s i ng from s ha re  opti ons 11 -

Total charge 11 -

 

O n 15 December 2023 the Company granted a total  of 1,547,288 share op2ons to execu2ve directors , senior

managers , employees  and consultants  of the Company (the "Share O p2ons"). O f the total  Share O p2ons, 400,000

were granted to Andy Parker, Execu2ve Chairman, and 400,000 were granted to I an Smith, Execu2ve Director. The

award of the Share O p2ons is  part of Tia l i s ' Long Term I ncen2ve P lan ("LTI P ") and is  des igned to retain and mo2vate

the senior leadership team, employees  and consultants . Under the rules  of the LTI P, the Share O p2ons are being

granted at ni l  cost or the nominal  value of the Company's  ordinary shares  of 1p each and are subject to ves2ng

rules  (the "Vesting Rules").

 

Under the Vesting Rules , the Share Options  vest as  fol lows:

- the second anniversary of the Grant Date: One-third of Award vests ;

 - the third anniversary of the Grant Date: Two-thirds  of Award vests ; and

- the fourth anniversary of the Grant Date: Remainder of Award vests .

 

The shares  cannot be issued un2l  the Group releases  them in accordance with the rules  of the LTI P. I f the relevant

trading company of Tia l i s  i s  sold or the overal l  Group is  taken over, the award wi l l  vest and be released in ful l ,

subject to the detai led rules  of the LTI P. I t i s  at this  point that the employee can real ise the value of their Share



Options.

 

The resulting interests  of Andy Parker and Ian Smith in Tia l is  can be summarised as  fol lows:

 

Director O rdinary shares
of 1p held

% of i ssued
share capital

LTI P  O p2ons
held prior to
this  award

LTI P  O p2ons
awarded

Andy Parker - - - 400,000
Ian Smith* 293,000 1.21% - 400,000
 

* I an Smith is  a lso the Chief Execu2ve O fficer and major shareholder of M XC Capital  Limited ("M XC") whose holding

of 18,204,685 O rdinary Shares  represents  75.16% of the Company's  i ssued ordinary share capital . I an Smith and

M XC hold in aggregate 18,497,685 O rdinary Shares , represen2ng 76.36% of the Company's  i ssued ordinary share

capital .

 

Fol lowing the grant of Share O p2ons, there is  a  total  of 1,547,288 Share O p2ons outstanding, represen2ng

approximately 6.39% of the current issued share capital  of the Company with an Exercise Price of 1p.

 

I n determining the fa ir value of the share op2ons granted during the year, the Company assessed the historical

share price vola2l i ty associated with the Company's  share price. The fa ir value of op2ons issued during the year

were calculated us ing a  Black-Scholes  model . The share price at grant date was 62p per share and no dividend yield

was expected.

 

27        Pensions
 

The Group operates  a  defined contribu2on pension scheme. The assets  of the scheme are held separately

from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge represents

contribu2ons payable by the Group to the fund and amounted to £0.9 mi l l ion for the year ended 31

December 2023 (year ended 31 December 2022: £0.7 mi l l ion). Contribu2ons total l ing £0.1 mi l l ion (31

December 2022: £0.1 mi l l ion) were payable to the fund at 31 December 2023 and are included in

creditors : amounts  due within one year.

 
I n addi2on, the Group operates  two individual  defined benefit pens ion schemes; detai ls  of each are noted

below.

 

The Mercer DB Master Trust - Tialis Group Limited Section

This  scheme is  open. I t has  one individual  who is  no longer employed by the Group and as  a  result i s  a

deferred member. The value of plan assets  i s  £0.04 mi l l ion. The value of plan l iabi l i2es  is  £0.02 mi l l ion.

Total  net assets  are £0.02 mi l l ion and the funding level  i s  189%. Due to the s ize and nature of the scheme,

and the fact that the funding is  a  pos i2ve pos i2on, and the Directors  are not certain that the Group wi l l

get a  recovery on the scheme, so therefore no amounts  have been provided in the accounts .

 

The impact on the statement of comprehensive income for this  scheme was £0.02 mi l l ion during the year

ended 31 December 2023. (31 December 2022: £0.02 mi l l ion). This  i s  in relation to fees. In addition, in the

year ending 31 December 2022, the Group paid £0.009 mi l l ion in employer's  pens ion contributions.

 

 

The assets  are held as  fol lows:

£000 %age

Mercer Flex LDI Real  Enhanced Match 10 27

Mercer Divers i fied Growth Fund 13 34

Mercer Pass ive Global  Equity CCF 10 26



Net Current Assets 5 13

Total Assets 38 100

 

Future funding obligations

The Trustees  are required to carry out an actuaria l  valua2on every 3 years . The last actuaria l  valua2on

of the Schemes was performed by the Scheme Actuary for the Trustees  as  at 5 Apri l  2023.

 

Refer to other commitments , note 30 for the fees  funding pos ition going forward.

 

Railways Pension Scheme - Omnibus Section

This  scheme is  open. I t has  one individual  who is  employed by the Group and as  a  result i s  an ac2ve

member. No further defici t contribution commitment wi l l  be sought outs ide of the Trustees  have estimated

Tial is  would need to pay in the event the employee left the scheme or reti red. 

 

The Trustees  have es2mated that Tia l is  would need to provide an addi2onal  amount of £0.01 mi l l ion for

every £0.01 mi l l ion of pens ion contribu2ons paid. The Company has  therefore provided an addi2onal

amount of £0.01 mi l l ion, which can be seen in the Provis ions  note 19.

 

The impact on the statement of comprehensive income for this  scheme was £0.02 mi l l ion during the year

ended 31 December 2023. (31 December 2022: £0.003 mi l l ion). This  i s  in rela2on to the employer's

contributions  and the provis ion noted above.

 

Future funding obligations

The Trustees  are required to carry out an actuaria l  valua2on every 3 years . The last actuaria l  valua2on

of the Schemes was performed by the Scheme Actuary for the Trustees  as  at 31 December 2022.

 

28        Related parties
 

Key management comprise of the Directors , Chief F inancial  O fficer, the Group Managing Director, and

the Group Director. Directors ' emoluments  are disclosed in note 9.

 

Key management personnel
Tota l  re mune ra ti on for ke y ma na ge me nt pe rs onne l 2023 2022

 £000 £000

Compe ns a ti on 525 622

Soci a l  s e curi ty 90 19

Pe ns i on contri buti ons  to mone y purcha s e  pe ns i on s che me 44 73

Total 659 714

  
 

Numbe r of ke y ma na ge me nt pe rs onne l  a ccrui ng be ne fi ts  unde r de fi ne d
contri buti ons 4 3

 

I an Smith, Execu2ve Director at 31 December 2023, held 1.21% (2022: 0.54%) through his  Sel f-I nvested

Pension P lan. I an Smith is  a lso Chief Execu2ve O fficer and a substan2al  shareholder of M XC Capital

Limited (M XC). M XC owned 75.2% (2022: 83.4%) of the issued share capital  of the Company at 31

December 2023. Together, I an Smith and M XC owned 76.4% (2022: 83.9%) of the issued share capital  of

the Company at 31 December 2023.

 

During the year, the Group and Company paid M XC Capital  Markets  LLP, a  subs idiary of M XC, for

corporate finance advice and other services  amoun2ng to £30,000 (2022: £94,800). The balance owed

to MXC Capital  Markets  LLP as  at 31 December 2023 was

£15,000 (2022: £33,000).

 

I n addi2on, the Group paid M XC Advisory Limited, a  subs idiary of M XC, fees  of £221,000 (2022:

£221,000) in respect of the services  of I an Smith as  Execu2ve Director. The balance owed to M XC

Advisory Limited as  at 31 December 2023 was £110,500 (2022: £265,200).

 

The Group also paid MXC Guernsey Limited, a  subs idiary of MXC Capital  Limited in the past in respect of

underwri2ng of loan notes  and guarantee fee of the finance leases  with Lombard. The balance owed to



underwri2ng of loan notes  and guarantee fee of the finance leases  with Lombard. The balance owed to

MXC Guernsey as  at 31 December 2023 was £ni l  (2022: £ni l ).

 

The Company had the fol lowing balances  with i ts  subs idiary companies:

2023 2022

Receivables £000 £000

Ti a l i s  Es s e nti a l  IT Ma na ge  Li mi te d 636 -

IDE Group Prote ct Li mi te d 9 9

Total 645 9

 

 

2023 2022

Payables £000 £000

Ti a l i s  Es s e nti a l  IT Ma nge  Li mi te d - 66
Se l e cti on Se rvi ce s  Li mi te d
Hooya  Di gi ta l  Li mi te d
Conne xi ons 4London Li mi te d
Aggre ga te d Te l e com Li mi te d

-
-
5
1

61
42

5
1

Total 6 175

 

 

29        Contingent liabilities
 

There was a  con2ngent l iabi l i ty in the prior year in respect of tax owed of £819,047 by a  former

owner, when the bus iness  was  privately owned rela2ng to a  tax scheme from 2006. This  was

seGled by the individual  in 2023. The Board is  confident there wi l l  be no recourse to the Group

as  the Group would only have a l iabi l i ty i f the individual  was  unable to pay.

 

30        Other commitments
 

The Group has  s igned an agreement for the administra2on of the defined benefit pens ion with

Mercer Trust with regards  to an employee. Tia l i s  has  an obl iga2on under this  agreement to

con2nue to remit £2,000 per month for management and administra2on charges  un2l  the

employee either withdraws from the pension or re2res. A commitment of £288,000 based on his

reti rement date of 2036 (12 years  x £24,000 pa) has  been estimated by the Board.

 

31        Post balance sheet events
 

There are no post balance sheet events .

 

32        Ultimate controlling party
 

M XC Capital  Limited (M XC) is  the ul2mate control l ing party and, at 31 December 2023, owned

75.2% of the issued share capital  and vo2ng rights  of the Company. There is  no ul2mate

control l ing party of MXC.
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